

 
The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please contact the  


Village Clerk’s Office, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 


 


 


AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 – 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 


April 15, 2019 
6:00 p.m. 


 
1. Call to Order 


 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 


 
3. Roll Call 


 
4. Minutes of Meetings – March 11, 2019, March 18, 2019 and April 1, 2019 


 


5. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received 


from the public on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken 
under citizen comments.) 


 
6. Administrator’s Report 


 
7. New Business 


 
A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of lot line 


adjustment by owners of properties located at 8415 104th Avenue and 8436 103rd 
Avenue. 


B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Master 
Conceptual Plan for construction of 5,800 square foot synagogue to be known as 
Chabad of Kenosha. 


C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Resolution 
#19-11 to initiate a zoning text amendment to re-evaluate specific conditional use 
permit requirements related to setbacks for utility substations. 


D. Consider award of contract to Southport Engineered Systems for the Heating, 
Ventilation & Air Conditioning (HVAC) Services for various Village of Pleasant Prairie 
Buildings and Facilities. 


E. Consider and approve Letter of Credit Reduction No. 2 for The Cottages at Village 
Green, LLC – Phase 2. 


F. Consider Resolution #19-10 designating April 14 - 20, 2018 as National Public Safety 
Telecommunications Week. 


G. Consider various boards/commission appointments. 


8. Village Board Comments 
 


9. Adjournment 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 
March 11, 2019 


6:00 p.m. 
 
 A special meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on March 11, 2019.  Meeting 
called to order at 5:30 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, Mike 
Pollocoff, and Mike Serpe.  Dave Klimisch was excused.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village 
Administrator; Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community 
Development Director; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; and Jane C. Snell, Village Clerk.  One (1) citizen 
attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, we had one signup this evening, Nancy Washburn. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Good evening, Nancy. 
 
Nancy Washburn: 
 


Good evening, everyone.  Thank you for holding this special meeting for us tonight.  I hope it 
didn’t bring everyone out of their homes too soon tonight.  We’re really excited about Green Bay 
Trail.  It’s really coming along to be a very nice development.  And so based on the comments 
which are very thorough as always from all of the Village staff, I still have a couple of things that 
I’m wondering if tonight isn’t a good place to get them on the table.  They certainly don’t need to 
be resolved tonight, but they’re food for thought as we bring forward the final condominium plat.   


 
And based on the review comments there’s only a couple of things I’d like to talk about.  One of 
them has to do with comments we’ve received on the street lighting.  As you are aware, this 
project was previously approved and built, and so there’s We Energies in place, sewer, electric 
and gas, as well as street lights which are already functioning and turned on.  We have a meeting 
coming up with We Energies to go over the design.  We’re going to have to move pedestals and 
transformers, we’re going to have to relay some of the electric.  But my big concern is the street 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
2 


lights.  There are two at the intersection of 100th and 65th Avenue and our private cul-de-sac.  
There are two existing street lights that stand there now.   
And as part of the addition to this project that wasn’t thought of back in 2006 are the sidewalks.  
So what’s happened is if the sidewalks are to run in a straight line through the intersection, the 
two street lights are in their way.  In discussing this with We Energies I have a couple of 
concerns.  Number one, there’s no way to save them.  In other words, it’s not like we can take 
apart what’s there and just kind of move them back five feet or whatever.  It’s based on their 
method of installation, and then from there their method of removal they would destroy the base, 
pole, wiring.  We might as well be looking at it from a budget standpoint as we are buying two 
new street lights that are going to be very costly to buy. 


 
And in the meantime we could just run the sidewalk around them.  We’ve shown that on our 
plans a couple of times.  And Matt’s comments have still come back to ask us to take those lights 
and remove them and relocate them.  So I guess I wanted to have a little dialogue if there was a 
reason.  I’ve seen that done in other areas, other sites that we’ve worked on or that have been 
built by other developers where something existed, and so rather than removing everything we try 
to go around it in a method that still allowed for the public to walk and traverse and come to a 
corner and cross the street safely.  And I think that’s what our sidewalk shows.  So I don’t now if 
Matt has any specific comments on that, but it does keep coming up, and we would want you to 
consider allowing us to keep those in place and routing the sidewalk around them as we’ve 
shown.  That’s number one.  Do we want to address that? 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


It’s citizen comments, I don’t think we can do that here.  We can do it when the item comes up, 
correct? 


 
Nancy Washburn: 
 


And then my other thing is in regards to the developer had -- when we met with Jean and staff 
early, early on in our first meeting we had talked about wanting to start a building kind of as an 
early start look at it.  And in our comments we have been getting back the fact that she will allow 
us or you will allow us to start that one building, but we have to have all of the utility work done.  
In other words there are some new sewer laterals that have to be laid.  There are some new storm 
sewers that have to go, water that has to be moved around.  And we understand all that, and we’re 
certainly agreeing to those items. 


 
Building 20 is right on the corner, the northeast corner of 104th and 65th Avenue.  And it has 
utilities in place.  Sewer and water lateral for it and storm sewer laterals don’t have to be 
relocated.  It’s ready, it’s a built pad that’s in essence ready to go.  That is the unit also that they 
have set up and would like to consider as a permanent model during the build out of the site.  So 
were hoping that once we got the sewer system and storm sewer televised, which is part of our 
requirement to make sure that it’s not leaking, that it can be up and running, that we could start 
that building 20 at that time.  And then we’d be putting up the building while we’re continuing 
through the improvement process. 


 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
3 


At that point your developer’s agreement would be in place, your letter of credit would be in 
place, and we would be simultaneously building the building there on the corner as we work 
through the site for utility extensions and expansions and etc.  So that’s the second thing we’d 
like you to consider is our ability to create or start that model home after we’ve got it televised, 
developer’s agreement, engineering and so forth is in place and letter of credit.  So that just 
hurries it up a little bit more.  So that by the time we’re done with those improvements we’ll 
actually have the building almost ready to open to the public and so forth.  Those were my only 
comments tonight.  I appreciate your consideration. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


All right, thank you.  Any other citizens’ comments? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


No other signups. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Anyone wishing to speak?  Hearing none we’ll close citizens’ comments. 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider approval of Ordinance 


#19-06 for a proposed 6-3 unit and 14-2 unit condominium buildings to be known as 
Green Bay Trail Condominiums located at the southeast corner of Old Green Bay 
Road and 104th Street (STH 165). 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board and the audience, this is a request for a Preliminary 
Condominium Plat, Resolution 19-06, at the request of Nancy Washburn, on behalf of Harpe 
Development.  And this is for a new condominium development to be known as the Green Bay 
Trail Condominiums. 


 
Just as some brief background information, on June 18, 2007, the Village Board had approved the 
Final Condominium Plat at that time for the Vintage Parc Condominium development which 
included 3 6-unit and 12 4-unit con buildings or 66 units.  At that time the infrastructure 
construction began, and many of the improvements were installed in the development at that 
southeast corner of Highway 165 and Old Green Bay including the mass grading, retention basin, 
underground utilities such as sewer, water and storm, the electric distribution system and street 
lights.  The binder course of the roadway including curb and gutter were installed a few years 
after that.  However, due to the downturn in the economy nothing progressed at that point. 


 
On November 19, 2018, the Board approved an assignment of the development agreement for 
Harpe Development, LLC to take over this development after they had purchased it and to post a 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
4 


new financial security or letter of credit based on a 2018 cost estimate prepared by the Village 
Engineer.  It was intended that a new development agreement will be put together at such time as 
this project is approved by the Village.  So as you can see on the slide the previous Vintage Parc 
Condominium approval that was approved by the Board back in 2007, the new Conceptual Plan 
was approved by the Village Plan Commission and the Board specifically on January 21, 2019.  
And you can see the slightly revised layout, although it really does feel very similar to the 
previous development other than the units are much smaller at two and three units.   


 
This new development has 46 units, again 6 3-units and 14 2-unit buildings.  It is intended to be a 
condominium development.  The sizes are identified in the staff comments with respect to each of 
the buildings in the unit.  And up on the screen you can see specifically that they’re looking to do 
some ranch-style buildings with two car attached garages, full basements, two bedrooms and 
three bedrooms and just over 1,600 square feet in area for these particular units.  In addition to the 
3-unit buildings they’ve got lower level ranch-style, three car attached garages, two bedrooms, 
two baths.  And then similar sizes but then there’s also an upper level unit which is much larger at 
over 2,200 square feet with three bedrooms, two baths, an office, covered deck but, again, 
introducing a little bit of variety to the condominium building. 


 
Again, the Preliminary Condominium Plat that’s being presented this evening would be 6 3-unit, 
14 2-unit or 46 units.  As part of the project they will be presenting a request for rezoning of the 
property.  It still is zoned R-10 PUD, but they’ll be modifying the PUD to address this existing 
development.  Again, much of the infrastructure is already in the ground, the right of way has 
been platted and dedicated to the Village.  So some of the tweaking that needs to be happening 
here in order to accommodate these units are set forth in the staff comments.   


 
They’ll be looking for a slight reduction from 65 feet to 60 feet for the right of way setback to 
165, a 50 foot setback to Old Green Bay Road instead of 65 feet, a 25 foot setback from 105th 
Street and 65th Avenue instead of the required 40 feet, a 20 foot setback for the edge of the 
garage to the right of way, 20 feet from the back of curb to the private cul-de-sac areas instead of 
the required 40, and 80 foot separation spacing between the center line of the condo driveways 
and center line of the adjacent roadways.  Again, normally it’s 100 feet, and a 20 foot separation 
distance between buildings as measured from the buildings, decks and porch as required. 


 
The staff and the Plan Commission have reviewed their request.  The staff comments go into a lot 
more detail with respect to the public improvement.  Again, where possible the public 
improvements that were installed in the ground are going to be kept, but there is going to be some 
tweaking and some additional laterals and modifications to the retention basin.  And, again, 
there’s some comments as it pertains to the street lights and a couple of the other things like the 
introduction of sidewalks in this development.   


 
As they move forward they will need to present a Final Condominium Plat, a Certified Survey 
Map as well as some of the other details with respect to the development as it looks at the 
infrastructure and modifications of infrastructure that have been made over the last several years 
in the Village.  The staff comment also addresses some of the transportation improvement fees 
that have been previously paid by the Vintage Parc Developer, and that has to do with 
infrastructure at the intersection of Old Green Bay Road and Highway 165. 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
5 


 
So this was a matter of public hearing before the Village Plan Commission.  They recommended 
conditional approval subject to the comments and conditions as outlined in the staff 
memorandum.  At this point if the Village Board approves the resolution for this evening we will 
move to the next phase which is to finalize the engineering plans, finalize the condominium plat 
as well as the other exhibits for the final development agreement that needs to come back before 
the Village Board. 


 
Again, there are a couple of items that Nancy discussed as part of the citizen comments this 
evening.  One had to do with the need for two new street lights if we don’t allow the sidewalks to 
weave around them at that entrance of that private road with the adjacent street.  They would like 
to begin a model on lot 20 which is just north of 105th Street, the very west end.  Again, 
infrastructure is in the ground to service that particular building, and access is available.  But they 
would be asking as part of the development agreement for some discretionary judgment by the 
Board to allow that building permit to start work on that two unit building before the 
infrastructure is complete throughout the entire development.  And then finally I thought there 
were some questions regarding the sidewalks, but I’d have to turn to Nancy with respect to that. 


 
Again, one of the other things that we have entered into with respect to the comments is that those 
two cul-de-sacs, the one on 105th Street going to the east and 65th Avenue going to the south, 
eventually as development continues to the east or to the south those bulbs or cul-de-sac heads 
would be removed by the adjacent landowner for development and then would need to be 
extended to the limits of the property line and then extended into the development.  This 
developer would be responsible -- the Green Bay Trail developer would be responsible for 
extending sidewalks as well as driveways and any street trees within their area of the 
development.  So with that this was a public hearing, and they are looking for a resolution of 
support for 19-06 for the Preliminary Condominium Plat for Green Bay Trail. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


The cul-de-sacs that you just mentioned, so the expectation is that at some point in time they may 
be extended both to the east and the south.  Is that going to be known to anybody that’s interested 
in moving on one of those streets that might think that they’re getting a more private location, at 
some point down the road an actual street that goes through?  Is that shared with them at the 
time? 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It should be shared by the developer.  We could request them or require them to put a note on the 
plat as well as in the declarations so it’s clear to any of the residents in either of those two 
buildings -- actually it’s buildings 7, 8 and 9 so that they have that information before them. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Yes.  And then just to double check, where are the street lights, they’re on Old Green Bay Road 
right at the 105th entrance? 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
6 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


They’re at 165. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


On the 165 entrance to 65th Avenue on either side? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


The street lights that they’re talking about is on 105th Street by the cul-de-sac right in the middle 
of the development right at the intersection there. 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


So I circled them. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Oh, just right there. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


Correct.  So they’re in the path of the sidewalk as it would be extended.  Otherwise you’d have to 
-- 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


How ugly would that be to snake the sidewalks around them? 
 
Matt Fineour: 
 


I’ll just address the comment here a little bit and just a little additional information.  So the 
comment really isn’t made an aesthetic perspective.  It’s more from a snowplowing perspective.  
So the cul-de-sac is going to be private, 105th Street is going to be public.  So when you start 
plowing snow you usually have at least five feet between the back of curb and the sidewalk for 
storage.  So if you start having a sidewalk on the back of the curb you’re going to be plowing 
snow right on that sidewalk where it snakes down there.  So you’re always going to have some 
issue at crosswalks, you’re going to be plowing in front of the crosswalk there.  In here your 
crosswalk is going to be parallel to that curb for a little while.  So every time a public plow comes 
down 105th Street you’re going to be plowing snow on that entire ramp versus it being five feet 
up you’d have some storage area there. 


 
So it’s more of a comment that it’s going to be the property owner or the association that’s going 
to have to maintain that ramp more often, have more trouble clearing it with snow than if it were 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
7 


five feet up and you move the lights.  As far as the cost for the lights we haven’t seen what those 
costs are.  So I mean if it’s very expensive then it’s a tradeoff of taking the trouble to plow those 
things versus moving the lights, or you spend a couple thousand dollars moving the lights and 
you basically that sidewalk goes straight through.  That’s kind of the thinking behind the 
comment was more of a snowplowing perspective than anything else. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


And I understand the rationale behind that.  Thanks for giving that additional information. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Nancy, you had something to add? 
 
Nancy Washburn: 
 


Just as a followup to that, as we look at the way the sidewalks are shown with the street light 
there now, they dip down closer to the road as Matt said.  That is a plowing issue.  But my 
thought was what if we ran them around it the other way, and we would be able to add additional 
easements to the plat which would cover then the public sidewalk.  Those are maintained through 
using snowblowers and so forth.  But if we ran the sidewalk around it to the outside going up into 
then the private cul-de-sac area then we would eliminate the problem of them plowing in the 
ramps, and we’d be willing to grant easements.  I’m just asking for some flexibility of thought, 
Mr. Keckler.  I appreciate the plowing issue.  I’ve seen it, this winter we’ve seen it everywhere.  
It’s been very difficult at corners.  As I said we do have the meeting on the 19th, so what we’re 
asking is just consideration once we know those expenses.  If there’s a way to inexpensively 
reroute the sidewalk up around them and that’s agreeable to the Board then we would appreciate 
that. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Is there concerns that if they were routed the other way and the street lights remain in their 
current spot that plowing would still have some type of negative impact either by continual 
pushing of heavy snow and/or acceleration of potential water and ice buildup that might cause 
accelerated rusting? 


 
Matt Fineour: 
 


No, I think if they routed it the other way I think they’d be fine.  Then it goes into more of the 
neck of the cul-de-sac.  That would be fine.  I wouldn’t have any issue with that. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Matt, are these street lights Village lights or developer lights? 
 
Matt Fineour: 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
8 


 
These are developer lights. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


And then on the question of the unit number 20 or lot number 20, Jean, has past practice been 
when someone wants to use a parcel or a building to be the model they can sell out of doesn’t that 
require a conditional use permit? 


 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 


It will require a conditional use permit, correct.  They have not applied for that yet.  They would 
do that typically at the time of the final plat. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Before we agree to it tonight I’d like to see how they’re proposing to lay that out and do business 
out of it.  Assuming that construction isn’t done, you have people parking on Old Green Bay 
Road or they can’t park on the street because they’re working on the street.  I’m not saying I’m 
opposed to it, but I’d just rather see that decision made at the conditional use point in time. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Any other comments? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I have none.  Do you want to postpone this? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I wouldn’t have a problem recommending approval of this.  I think the engineer indicated he was 
not opposed to relocation of the sidewalks into the easement, public easement and to leave the 
lights where they are.  And if the developer is willing to get all their information together for a 
conditional use permit for using that unit parcel, that unit 20 parcel then I’d recommend approval 
of the conceptual plan as presented tonight. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
 







Village Board Meeting  
March 11, 2019 
 


 
9 


Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
POLLCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE ORDINANCE #19-06 FOR A PROPOSED 6-3 UNIT AND 
14-2 UNIT CONDOMINIUM BUILDINGS TO BE KNOWN AS GREEN BAY TRAIL 
CONDOMINIUMS LOCATED AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OLD GREEN BAY ROAD 
AND 104TH STREET (STH 165); SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 4-0. 
 
 
6. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move to adjourn. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE MEETING; 
SECONDED BY KECKER; MOTION CARRIED 4-0 AND MEETNG ADJOURNED AT 5:55 
P.M. 







 


 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 


PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 


9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 


March 18, 2019 


6:00 p.m. 
 


 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on March 18, 2019.  Meeting 


called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, Mike 


Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator; Tom 


Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; Dave 


Smetana, Police Chief; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; Carol 


Willke, Human Resources Director; Dan Honore', IT Director; and Craig Anderson, Recreation Director.  


13 citizens attended the meeting. 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 


 


2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Tonight the Pledge will be led by Brendon Hausinger [phonetic].  So please rise for the Pledge of 


Allegiance.  Thank you, Brendon. 


 


3. ROLL CALL 


 


4. MINUTES OF MEETING - FEBRUARY 18, 2019 
 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Move approval. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second for approval.  Any additions or corrections?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


2 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE BOARD 


REGULAR MEETING OF FEBRUARY 18, 2019 AS PRESENTED IN ITS WRITTEN FORM; 


SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


5. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 


Bill Demo: 


 


Good evening.  Bill Demo, 9285 66th Avenue.  I’m here to make comments regarding The Vista 


at Creekside Crossing, the item that’s on the agenda tonight.  I am the President the Creekside 


Crossing Homeowners Association.  I’ve been up here a few time to talk about where we stand on 


it.  We’re opposed to the project. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Is the microphone on? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Give her a tap. 


 


Bill Demo: 


 


Okay.  So we’re opposed to this.  Our desire is that those properties be developed and they’re 


owner occupied, and that’s the way it was originally planned.  We understand that Creekside 


Crossing wasn’t fully developed out.  There’s been confusion amongst the homeowners 


especially with what went on with the two Planning Commission meetings that we’ve been 


involved in.  We left last Monday night believing that all four options that were presented were 


going to be rejected.  Now I understand that 3a and 4 are back on the table.  And 3a has six 


buildings.  It has a building on the interior circle.  If 3a is something that we have to live with we 


would reluctantly agree to it if we could get rid of this seventh building and have no rental 


properties inside of the circle. 


 


Another bone of contention that we have with this is this puts an undue financial burden on the 


residents in our homeowners association with the sidewalks that are going to be constructed and 


if they are carried around the circle.  Right now we have a snow removal contract that does our 


business.  This would add and almost double the cost to our snow removal costs to remove that 


snow and keep those sidewalks clear.  We don’t understand the need for sidewalks.  We are just a 


country living neighborhood.  We’ve been well established.  It has not ever been requested that 


we look into it by any homeowner up to this point. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


3 


Another thing is we understand that it’s low income housing.  I take offense for our owners that it 


was brought up at the meeting that we because low income housing might be available believe 


that we’re going to have bad people.  We don’t believe that low wage earners are bad people.  


What we’re concerned about is just the inherent nature of transient living that comes through 


apartment buildings.  We’ve all grown up, we all lived in apartments, we know you have great 


neighbors, and you also know that you have people that don’t care about the property because 


they are not homeowners.  So that’s a significant issue.  But I want everybody to understand we 


embrace the community.  We don’t feel that those people are bad. 


 


But the financial burden is something that no other resident in the Village would have to accept if 


you wound up putting an apartment complex anywhere else.  All those costs would be taken by 


the developer.  And then residents that are adjacent to it would be unaffected financially because 


they would not have to deal with any additional costs.  That would be it for my comments.  


Thanks. 


 


Chris Demo: 


 


My name is Chris Demo, Bill Demo’s wife, 9285 66th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, Unit 21.  I want 


to give you a little background on how Bill and I came to live at Creekside Crossing.  We 


followed the Mastercraft project for a few years before making our decision on where we were 


going to go.  Mastercraft originally built over on 52nd Street by the YMCA.  Also on the east side 


of Green Bay Road across from the Walmart.  The property that was over on 52nd Street was the 


entrance to the YMCA.  We felt that the traffic in and out of there was just going to be too much 


for us.  We didn’t want to be part of that.  The property over on 52nd Street -- or on Green Bay 


Road had an entrance where you had to go through apartments to get to that property.  We didn’t 


want to be part of that either.  It was just too much congestion, too much going on. 


 


Mastercraft let us know when they were building in Pleasant Prairie, and we decided to go 


forward with that.  And we truly live in a Pleasant Prairie.  It is beautiful there, we love it.  We 


are just happy with our surroundings.  We’re close enough to all the amenities that Pleasant 


Prairie and Kenosha has to offer.  And we feel that putting something that is multifamily 


properties into that type of community is going to change the dynamics of where we are and how 


we live.  Whether it’s traffic, crime, people, whatever the case may be it’s going to change the 


dynamics of how we live.  And we would really appreciate your consideration of stopping this 


project and going back to the drawing board and reconsidering what does this area need to look 


like.  Thank you very much. 


 


Ken Harju: 


 


Hello, everybody.  Ken Harju, 9249 64th Court, Pleasant Prairie.  I’m not going to give her same 


speech so we’ll just get to where I’m at.  A little confusion at the Plan Commission meeting, and I 


guess tonight we’re looking at two options.  I didn’t realize we were going to get there.  Option 


number 4 is on the original footprint, and according to the developer it would be 158 rental 


properties.  So, of course, I don’t think anybody wants that.  The other option is 3a which 


includes seven buildings.  One of them is on the inside of the circle as Bill says.  And if we have 


to choose bad or really bad I’d rather go with bad.  And I agree with Bill we need to take the 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


4 


seventh building out.  It’s been 140 units from the go.  We still don’t know why it has to be 140 


units, and it would be 120 units.  It would also put it into a PUD so there’d be some control on it 


when it’s being built.  So thank you very much. 


 


Karen Denhartog: 


 


Karen Denhartog, 9203 62nd Court in Pleasant Prairie.  I didn’t realize that we were just talking 


about two plans.  I thought we still had three on the table so I’m going to address as I planned.  I 


do not agree with the plan 3a which brings 20 units to the inside of Creekside Circle adjacent to 


the rest of the Workforce Housing units and unnecessarily within close proximity of the owner 


occupied condo units and future single family homes.  As Mr. Mills attested to during the most 


recent Plan Commission meeting, plan 3a was created to appease the homeowner abutting that 


particular building unit.  He changed the plan, and Mr. Mills said to appease this one owner.  Mrs. 


Davidson stood at the podium and praised Mr. Mills on a wonderful product.  She was the only 


person present who agreed with it.  That says quite a lot, don’t you think?  Why not just remove 


that one building from the plan? 


 


We don’t appreciate being accused of fear mongering as Mr. Mills stated in the Kenosha News.  


We’re trying to express our concerns about the real potential for an increase in traffic violations 


and crime rates in our neighborhood.  Also, transient families don’t typically share the same level 


of respect and concern for the surrounding properties as those of us who own our homes.  It’s 


important to reiterate that every one of us bought into Creekside Crossing with the knowledge 


that this would be a community of owner occupied units.  It now seems that may not come to 


bear.  That was a pun. 


 


I also think having a sidewalk around the interior Creekside Circle right of way while appealing 


to ADA needs would also invite much more foot and car traffic into the area.  This is not the 


RecPlex, and we don’t want a walking trail open to the public in our yards.  We definitely don’t 


want to be saddled with paying for the upkeep and the snow removal requirements.  We feel very 


passionately about what’s right for our community, not what’s easy.   We urge you to not vote to 


approve this development.  But if you feel pressured to make a decision tonight please make it 


option 3.  We very much appreciate the time and consideration we’ve been given.  Thank you. 


 


Eric Davidson: 


 


My name is Eric Davidson.  I live at 9115 Old Green Bay Road in Pleasant Prairie.  My wife and 


I live adjacent to Creekside Crossing just to the west.  We built our 3,500 square foot home on 


two and a half acres 23 years ago when Creekside was a farm field.  We like having open space 


around us, but Pleasant Prairie was and is going to continue to grow and develop.  It is inevitable.  


We want it to be an attractive development.  We have met with S.R. Mills and his team to discuss 


the plans for The Vista at Creekside, and they have been fair and honest about the multifamily 


units being built.  Two of the units abut our land to the north.  We have been promised 


landscaping to minimize any noise and light pollution that come from these units. 


 


A few of the things to consider, Bear is a trusted name in our community, and they will remain 


here unlike many of the other developers who have made attempts at Creekside and failed.  We 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


5 


know have the level of quality that Bear brings to all of their developments.  If you don’t, drive 


around Kenosha and you can see them.  We also know that Bear plans to sell many single family 


lots in and around the multifamily units.  It wouldn’t make sense for them to put in a substandard 


multifamily unit with subsidized rent with lots that are seeking to sell at market value and occupy 


homes in the $400,000 plus range.  We are concerned about the entire project, but not just the 


multifamily units.  We support option 3a presented this evening.  Thank you very much. 


 


S.R. Mills: 


 


Good evening.  S.R. Mills, 4011 80th Street, Kenosha, Wisconsin.  I’m really appreciative of the 


time and consideration certainly.  There’s been a lot of discussions throughout the process here 


and I think in the Plan Commission and the prior Village Board meeting a lot of different 


iterations.  I think that makes a strong development and ultimately a stronger community.  I’m 


here to answer any questions that you have this evening.  Appreciate the time.  Thank you. 


 


Vesna Savic: 


 


There are no other signed up speakers. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments this evening?  Seeing none I’ll close 


citizens’ comments. 


 


6. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 


Nathan Thiel: 


 


The only item that I just wanted to bring to the attention of the Board is that I did have the 


opportunity to visit in Madison with our State Representatives regarding the We Energies power 


plan closure and had some productive discussions.  As more information comes forward we are 


working on some legislation to try to address the shortfall that we will see when they file with the 


PSC the actual closure.  So I just wanted to pass along to the Board and to the public that we’re 


trying to address that issue. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


All right, thank you. 


 


7. NEW BUSINESS 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


A request has been made to move Item F to the first and Item J to second and then continue with 


A, B, C.  Do I have a motion to do that? 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


6 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


So moved. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


POLLOCOFF MOTIONED TO  MOVE NEW BUSINESS ITEMS F FIRST & J 


SECOND; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 F. Consider and approve 2019-2020 Liability and Property Insurance proposals. 
 


Laura DeLaRosa: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, I present to you the liability and property insurance 


proposal for the 2019-2010 policy year.  This is the first year of a new three year bid cycle.  And 


we received proposals from the three companies.  First off the League of Wisconsin 


Municipalities along with the Municipal Property Insurance Company at $635,600.  We’ve also 


received one from Community Insurance which is also with Travelers at $656,500.  And lastly 


EMC at $854,908. 


 


There’s an estimated $219,000 spread between our highest bidder EMC and our lowest bidder the 


League of Wisconsin Municipalities.  These premiums do not include a deduction for dividends 


since they are not guaranteed.  However, over the last at six years we have received a dividend. 


We estimated the League’s dividend at about 10 percent, and it is on all lines of coverage, and it’s 


based on experience and longevity.  Community Insurance dividend is at a flat 10 percent with a 


loss sensitive slide and is only based off of Worker’s Comp.  


 


Last year the Village premium was $565,043 with liability coverage through the League and 


Worker’s Comp. and property with Travelers.  This year we’re seeing an increase of about 12 


percent which is roughly $71,000 from last year.  Worker’s Compensation accounts for the 


majority of the increase, and that’s due to increase in our MOD from .82 to 1.02.  Liability 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


7 


coverage also increased by about $5,000, but that was due to the increase in the values of vehicles 


added and additional officers hired. 


 


My recommend is the League of Wisconsin Municipalities for liability coverage including 


Worker’s Compensation, the Municipal Property Insurance Company for contractor’s equipment 


and boiler and machinery, and Hanover for crime.  Our agency that we will be working with is R 


& R Insurance Services, and our agent Rick Kalscheuer is here tonight for any questions you may 


have.  Overall based on this recommendation our premium increases by about 12 percent as 


mentioned before.  The Village, RecPlex and utilities have an expense budget of $617,288 for 


insurance coverage and a dividend budget of $18,000 which is a net of $599,288.  With estimated 


dividends subtracted from our proposed amounts our recommendation net estimate is $578,944 


which will allow us to be under budget for the 2019-2020 policy year.  If you have any questions 


please let me know. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Laura, is there any changes in the deduction levels on any of the policies? 


 


Laura DeLaRosa: 


 


The deductible amounts, no, it has stayed the same. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Do we know what the average is going up across the country or in the area at least? 


 


Laura DeLaRosa: 


 


I don’t.  Rick may be able to tell you.  But like I said the significant increase that we had was at 


Worker’s Comp. and that was due to our claims. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’m just curious of what the averages are going up. 


 


Rick Kalscheuer: 


 


The League insurance premium -- 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Could you just give us your name and address for the record? 


 


Rick Kalscheuer: 


 


I’m Rick Kalscheuer, N3846 Round Hill Circle, Pewaukee, Wisconsin. 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


8 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


Rick Kalscheuer: 


 


Thank you.  We represent the League Insurance Company.  I’m with R & R Insurance.  The 


League Insurance Company this year our rates have been flat.  Now, the premium increases that 


Laura referred to is because you hired more police officers.  If you had the same amount of police 


officers and the same amount of vehicles as last year it would have remained the same from the 


League standpoint.  Where your largest premium increase was was in increasing your Worker’s 


Compensation MOD which went up -- how many points? 


 


Laura DeLaRosa: 


 


It went from .82 to 1.02. 


 


Rick Kalscheuer: 


 


To 1.02.  And we projected that next year that’s probably going to be going up to close to 1.10 


based on the information that we have now.  And that’s based on the losses that Village 


employees have sustained over a three year period.  That’s what’s driving your costs today. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


And we’re estimating and planning for that throughout the three year cycle, potential increase and 


we may be adding addition staffing especially in the emergency services area? 


 


Laura DeLaRosa: 


 


When we budget for the following year yes. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


So that MOD is an average of the last three years? 


 


Rick Kalscheuer: 


 


The way the MOD’s calculated this is the 2019 policy year so it’s not using 2019 data.  The 2018 


data is too new so it’s using ‘17, ‘16 and ‘15 years.  Any other questions? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Thank you. 


 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


9 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’d move to concur with Laura’s recommendation and go with the League of Municipalities. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE 2019-2020 LIABILITY AND PROPERTY 


INSURANCE PROPOSALS; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries.  Before I go to item J a little bit of housekeeping business.  In the back 


we have I believe the Cub Scouts.  Is the leader here for the Cub Scouts?  Did you notify the 


Village about the Pinewood Derby? 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


If the Scout Master could talk to the Fire Chief I think we can resolve your issue here.  All right. 


 


 J. Discuss and consider New RecPlex Membership Levels. 
 


Brian Luburich: 


 


Brian Luburich, 8444 66th Court, Pleasant Prairie. 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


Elizabeth Caruso, 2650 Cadbury Circle, Lake In The Hills, Illinois. 


 


Brian Luburich: 


 


Elizabeth and I are here to kind of introduce you guys to a new membership structure that we’re 


looking to roll out at the RecPlex.  This all started a year ago.  We took a member survey, 


surveyed I think it was about 35 percent of our members.  And from that survey we identified a 


few things.  First off was that our membership base wanted a loyalty program, specifically a 


program that rewarded them for the duration of their membership length.  So the longer the 


member essentially the greater the perks.  The second most requested item within that survey was 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


10 


that people are looking for a reduction in their rates.  This is probably the result of some of the 


other gyms opening in the area.  And then with that data we further unveiled that our cancellation 


rate due to cost has increased.  


 


So with those two things in mind that we got out of the survey we spent the last year kind of 


developing a plan that addressed those things.  First and foremost we figure out kind of a new 


loyalty program that we’re looking to unveil at the RecPlex that’s based more on the duration of 


their memberships.  So as it stand now our membership base does not get really any perks.  Mike, 


I think you’ve been a member for about 18 years, and we value your business.  But right now we 


aren’t doing a ton to kind of keep you there. 


 


So what we’re looking to do is roll out a new process that identified different milestones at the 


RecPlex, a 5 year, a 10 year, a 15 year, based on the duration members will receive increased day 


passes or t-shirts, different member appreciation events.  Probably the most I think exciting thing 


we’re looking to unveil is that anybody who has been a member for more than a year is going to 


have access to a bring a buddy Wednesday.  So every Wednesday night our existing members 


will have access to bringing one addition person to the RecPlex. 


 


Secondly to kind of address our cost question we’re looking to simplify the whole membership 


process and really who we are, and that’s a family recreation center.  When we first opened 18 


years ago we really were membership driven.  It was more of a gym-type mentality.  I’ve been 


here for the last 14 years, and I can tell you that dynamic has shifted a lot.  Our membership 


revenue now accounts for about half of the revenue at the facility, so we’re really program driven.  


And the way that we’re looking to kind of grow that is to shift the way we do our memberships to 


really try and bring in more families because all those families feed into the different programs 


we have a the RecPlex.  With that said, Elizabeth is going to kind of talk to you about what we’re 


looking to do. 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


It’s pretty exciting.  Before our process was very cumbersome not only to staff but to members.  


Ultimately we’re trying to get this membership structure available online.  That’s the way of the 


future.  Our new membership tiers are going to be called basic, and that’s what the basic 


membership currently is that all of you have at the facility if you’re a member.  So that’s not 


going to change, and the rates are not going to increase.  But we have the basic individual so that 


would be one adult, basic couple that would be husband and wife, basic family I which will be 


one adult and unlimited children, basic family II which will be one adult and unlimited children. 


 


Previously with our old tiers not only was it complicated for staff but it wasn’t user friendly, and 


members said that we were nickeling and diming them by child.  So ultimately as Brian was 


saying we’re looking to redefine who are, and we’re not just a fitness center.  We also have a 


water park and we have an aqua arena and we have an ice arena and beach in the summertime and 


all this program that we offer for families.  But with the previous structure it was almost like you 


were penalized for the more children that you had.   


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


11 


So with this structure we’re really going to embrace the idea of we have our family facility.  No 


one will experience a rate increase, so none of the current members will experience a rate 


increase.  With this family friendly membership structure we should see increased dollars with 


our program registration.  The time line for implementing this structure requires administrative 


setup, system updates, training of staff.  So we’re introducing this structure today, and will return 


with our ordinance changes at a later date. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Questions? 


 


Nathan Thiel: 


 


More like a comment.  I just want to specifically identify that this was not just -- because I have 


six children this was not driven by Nathan Thiel.  So just for the record I wanted to point that out.  


However, in the time that I spent with Craig and staff in reviewing this new rate structure I’m 


really excited.  I think it’s going to be a value add for the membership in general.  I am 


appreciative of the time and effort that was spent in creating a basic, a preferred and a VIP.  And 


the amenities that were identified in each of those categories.  And so I just want to thank the 


RecPlex and staff for the time that they took in developing this plan. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I think this is going to really work out well for the community.  I know when we first started the 


Village’s guidance on this was the facility couldn’t land on the tax roll and it hasn’t.  There hasn’t 


been any property tax dollars that have been spent on the facility.  But I think initially it caused us 


to really be aggressive in the pricing to make sure that we’ve done that.  And I think since that 


point the RecPlex has evolved and grown.  And to be able to provide a rate of $99 for a family of 


whatever size I think is a good value.  And it gets rid of the fertility tax that existed for people 


who have a lot of kids.  When I think back I’m surprised we did it.  And I think that the other 


options are everybody is a little bit different, everybody’s family is different, and I think you’ve 


got three different plans here that will suit different motivated people.  So I think it’s a good 


option, and I’m looking forward to seeing the ordinance when it comes to get implemented. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Is there any indication that corporate discounts have fluctuated at all in the last several years?  Do 


we see more people taking advantage of them? 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


Yeah, quite a few people take advantage of all of our discounts, and none of that will change.  So 


you’ll still get a discount as a resident.  You still get a discount as a senior which is 60 plus.  


You’ll still get a discount if you work for one of the corporations, and a lot of people do take 


advantage of that. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


12 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


And that list of applicable corporations has that grown? 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


Actually we fined tuned it a little bit because some of the corporations were coming in and taking 


advantage of that discounted rate with only having one or two employees, and the minimum 


requirement we try to have is ten.  Now, we don’t eliminate those individuals, but I actually 


reached out and contacted the corporations, got updated agreements, and we have 89 agreements 


now with corporations that are promising those minimum of ten employees.  And they’re actively 


sending out our marketing material every time we have a special.  So we pared down the list and 


we are hitting it a lot harder.  We always have daily interest, though, and people are always 


looking to get involved in it. 


 


Nathan Thiel: 


 


Elizabeth, one addition question that did come up today that I think would be beneficial, for the 


basic family I and II sometimes families are differently structured.  So, for instance, grandparents 


might have grandkids that are living with them.  I presume that these rates would equally apply, 


that it’s not just the parents or it could be guardianship? 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


Absolutely.  If there’s a guardianship situation we absolutely will let them take advantage of that.  


Foster children also, children that are adopted those will all fit in this structure.  I’m always 


available to work out a situation that’s best for the member, and they can contact me directly.  


Brian also has the ability to make those exceptions to rules, but yes. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Competition you mentioned is out there, and I commend you for looking at this now and 


addressing it.  And I’m sure you’ll continue to do so in the future as well.  So good job.  I don’t 


care where you’re at, nobody can compete with what we have to offer. 


 


Elizabeth Caruso: 


 


Absolutely. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


The largest municipal owned facility in America. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


No further questions?  Thank you.  Is that a receive an file? 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


13 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Yes, I make a motion to receive and file the report. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second to receive and file.  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


POLLOCOFF MOVED TO RECEIVE AND FILE NEW RECPLEX MEMBERSHIP 


LEVELS; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 A. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinance #19-07 a 


Zoning Text Amendment to Section 420-125.2 L (4) of the Municipal Code as it 


relates to dock doors. 
 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a Zoning Text Amendment, Ordinance 19-07, 


and this is to amend the Zoning Ordinance as it relates to a provision in the M-5 Production 


manufacturing district.  On March 11, 2019, the Plan Commission conditionally approved some 


Preliminary Site and Operational Plans for a developer for the recently created Stateline 94 


Corporate Park.  At that time they approved a project for a new facility known as Fresenius Kabi.  


That project approval was subject to the modification that we’re talking about this evening as it 


relates to the Production and Manufacturing District. 


 


The M-5 District provides for manufacturing, assembly, office and research and development 


uses with limited warehouse and distribution uses within an enclosed structure.  No high hazard 


uses are allows.  The M-5 District limits the storage and distribution areas to not more than 30 


percent of the building, and not more than 25 percent of exterior linear footage of a building can 


be used for docks. 


 


One of the other things that the M-5 District states currently is that there should be no dock doors 


facing a public street.  So there’s a slide up on the screen right now that shows the proposed new 


Fresenius Kabi facility.  And looking at the slide now what we’re looking at is their first building.  







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


14 


It’s on a corner lot on 120th Avenue, the East Frontage Road, and 122nd Street which is County 


Trunk Highway ML.  So with most distribution facilities, most manufacturing facilities, assembly 


facilities, those that are doing some type of related manufacturing process or related use per the 


ordinance, it’s oftentimes the situation where there will be dock doors on two sides of the 


building.  


 


Unfortunately for this particular building is that they are a corner lot.  So the staff while it’s 


typically required by ordinance that there should not be any type of dock door facing a public 


street, we worked with the developer in this particular circumstance in order to specifically 


address the concerns, and I’m going to just jump ahead a little bit.  Their project was also known 


as project BluePoint if you’ve seen that.  But specifically what they’re requesting is that dock 


doors may face a public street only under special circumstances with approved screening and 


maintenance plan as approved by the Village Plan Commission. 


 


So this is a matter that went before the Village Plan Commission.  And Fresenius Kabi through 


Stateline 94 has developed a very detailed screening so that when you’re driving on Highway ML 


and you’re facing the building looking to the north that between the grade variation between the 


adjacent roadway and where the building is situated as well as the landscaping, the fencing that’s 


going to be required and the distance, all of those combined make it virtually impossible as 


you’re driving on Highway ML to be able to see the dock doors on the south side of Project 


BluePoint or Fresenius Kabi. 


 


So we were asking for some flexibility in the zoning ordinance to allow dock doors to be facing a 


public road but only under certain circumstances, again based on the screening plan and the 


specific approval of the Plan Commission.  So that is the request this evening is to modify the M-


5 to give a little bit of flexibility based on a very specific and unique set of circumstances and 


facts for a new project coming to the community.  The staff and the Plan Commission 


recommended approval.  And, again, this is exactly how it would look for the first building that 


would take advantage of that. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Makes sense.  Move approval of 19-07. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


15 


KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #19-07 A ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT 


TO SECTION 420-125.2 L (4) OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE AS IT RELATES TO DOCK 


DOORS; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries.  Do you want to do B and C together, Jean? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Yes. 


 


 B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinance #19-06 a 


Comprehensive Plan Amendment relating to the Whittier Creek Neighborhood 


Plan, located north of 93rd Street and east of Old Green Bay Road. 


 


 C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider a Conceptual Plan for the 


properties north of the Creekside Crossing development and adjacent vacant 


properties to the west of The Vista at Creekside development. 
 


John Steinbrink: 


 


These items will be taken together, but separate action will be taken. 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


So Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a project that has been before the Board in the 


past.  It was referred back to the Plan Commission, and there were a number of various options 


that were looked at for this particular development.  Let me just go through the slides, and we’ll 


just highlight on some of the things.  I know you’ve seen some of these before.  The request this 


evening is to amend the Comprehensive Plan for a portion of the Whittier Creek Neighborhood 


Plan, Ordinance 19-06.  And the second item is to approve a conceptual plan for The Vista at 


Creekside. 


 


As some background information, as you know the original Creekside development that was 


developed between 2005 and 2010 included a total of 312 dwelling units that was intended to be 


developed in several phases.  This particular project at the time when we were working with 


Mastercraft Development was intended to be an owner occupied condominium development with 


some single family lots to be located on the east side of the development.  As you can see based 


on what was developed back then, then the recession hit, a total of 158 additional condominium 


units generally could have been still developed on the very north and northeastern portions of the 


development as well as kind of the northwestern portions of the development if the development 


would have proceeded forward. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


16 


A couple of other things with respect to some history, in 2015 a Conceptual Plan had been 


submitted by the current developer, and that plan originally had showed single family 


development.  After further evaluation by the developer, again this is through Bear Development 


and their LLC that they’ve created for this development, they found that it wasn’t cost effective to 


just put the single family in this particular area because of the significant costs for the completion 


of Creekside Circle, the bridge over the Jerome Creek as well as some of the other public 


improvement requirements that have been modified by the Village. 


 


In 2019 the developer had proposed a Conceptual Plan which was presented at the January 28, 


2019 Plan Commission meeting.  This was 62 acres, 58 acres that were remaining in the 


Creekside development, and then there was some acreage that was to the west along the south 


side of 91st Street.  At that time they were proposing 43 single family lots, 1 2-family lot and 7 


20-unit apartment buildings.  And these apartment unit buildings were intended to be identified as 


Workforce Housing.  In addition, there was a clubhouse that was proposed right at the entrance of 


91st Street and Old Green Bay Road that would bring you into the development. 


 


Since that time there had been a series of public meetings going back and forth, and based on 


comments that we received at the public meetings different options were re-evaluated and 


brought back to the Plan Commission.  And we’re going to talk about four or five of those 


options today.  Option 1 which was initially presented to the residents in November of 2018 was 


more of the developer presenting it to the Creekside Association.  The Village was not involved 


in that process, but they had presented it to the residents in November of ‘18.  It included 37 


single family lots, 2-family lots and then 7 20-unit apartment buildings and a clubhouse. 


Option 2 that was actually presented to the Plan Commission and the Board again was actually 


the one that was presented on the January 28th Plan Commission meeting.  Again, that showed 5 


of the 20-unit apartment buildings to the north and two of them to the west south of 91st, and a 


clubhouse close to 91st and Old Green Bay Road, with the balance of the development to be 


single family homes. 


 


Option 3 that was then presented by the developer identified an additional land acquisition 


possibly by the developer and moving six or the multifamily buildings on either side of 91st 


Street as you’re coming off of Old Green Bay Road.  Four of them would be to the north, two 


would be to the south.  And then the seventh building was actually on the west side of Creekside 


Circle.  The balance of the area that was undeveloped as shown would be identified for single 


family lots.  They had identified 55 single family lots. 


 


The next option that was looked at was option 3a, and it was similar to option 3 except a revised 


location of one of the 7 20-unit buildings.  Instead of it being on the west side of Creekside Circle 


it’s now shown at the intersection of 91st Street and Creekside Circle on the east side of 


Creekside Circle between Creekside Circle and the creek.  And then the balance of the area would 


be developed for single family homes. 


 


Then we discussed an option 4.  And this was an option that was just generally prepared by my 


staff that illustrated under current zoning under the basic use district that the developer is entitled 


to under the current zoning what could be built within the Creekside development area; 21 2-


family lots or 42 units, 3 4-family lots or 12 units, 6 8-family lots or 48 units for a total of about 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


17 


102 multifamily units.  Again, each of these districts, the R-8, R-9 and R-10 are all considered 


multifamily districts.  And one of the things that we discussed at the Plan Commission meeting 


was that under these districts the Village cannot control, direct or require whether or not they be 


multifamily owner occupied or multifamily renter occupied.   


 


So there was considerable discussion at the Plan Commission meeting with the residents coming 


up and discussing that they were concerned that they really wanted to have owner occupied, but 


the zoning ordinance does not require it, and it does not force it to be an owner occupied 


multifamily.  So under the current zoning it could be either multifamily apartments or it could be 


multifamily condominiums.  Again, the original concept in this area was for it to be owner 


occupied.  But the current zoning ordinance by law does not require it to be owner occupied. 


 


The next option was an option 4a that the developer had presented.  And when he re-laid out the 


options of the multifamily buildings using a little bit more exactness because they had it in the 


CAD system, they had come up with a possibility of 138 multifamily buildings, again, by use, by 


right entitled zoning for the property, again, whether it was R-8, R-9 and R-10.  So as part of this 


process this evening either way we would need to, if any of these options get approved, a 


Comprehensive Plan Amendment would need to be moving forward because currently the 


Comprehensive Plan delineates this area as single family, and any option that involves 


multifamily would involve a plan amendment. 


 


Let me just clarify that at the Plan Commission meeting the motion by the Plan Commission was 


that the Plan Commission denied all options.  Options 1, 2, 3, 3a, 4, 4a, they denied all the 


options.  However, they further made the recommendation that they ask the staff to continue to 


work over that week time period to discuss and to look at options 3a and 4 again.  So all the 


options were denied by the Plan Commission.  They make only recommendation.  But the request 


by the developer was that the Board consider all of the options again but knowing what the Plan 


Commission recommendation is.  And, again, for us to further look at options 3a and 4.  It’s not 


that all of the options are off the table, they’re not.  I mean the Board has the purview to do and to 


look at any of the options. 


 


With respect to the Comprehensive Plan compliance, we did talk about the density.  And because 


there is a considerable amount of open space within this particular neighborhood which is over a 


mile square area, that the additional apartments in this particular area did not put us outside of the 


requirements of the density of the land use plan for this particular area.  So although multifamily 


area is close to the industrial park and employment opportunities, again, we always are looking 


for a variety of housing types, and we are always looking at net density.  But even with the 


apartments or without the apartments it does not change the Comprehensive Plan Requirements. 


 


There were some things that have been brought up earlier in the process that talked about a 


neighborhood park on the north side of the Creekside development.  And that was the case in the 


early 2000s, but since that time a community park has been identified and developed by the 


Village just to the east known as Ingram Park when we received the land donation.  That happens 


to be a community park, a dog park, a sledding hill and has other amenities tied to it in proximity 


to this development.  Again, we did look at this option, we did talk about the basic zoning district 


ordinance requirements.  Under that basic use district in each R-8, -9 and -10, those districts 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


18 


regulate building size, design, setback, materials and general requirements, but they do not 


regulate any type of ownership. 


 


Again, with that option 2 the developer was looking at acquiring additional and to the west in 


order to move as many of these units further west and then south of 91st Street.  But the purpose 


of this slide also is to look at one of the items that had come up, and that is the extension of public 


sidewalks.  Identified in green are the proposed public sidewalks as you could see would be on 


the south side in this option 2 adjacent to 91st, and then on either side of Creekside Circle on the 


west side, on the inside of Creekside Circle, and then extending down and around the loop.  So 


there would be sidewalks the entire loop of Creekside Circle as well as on the east side.  In 


addition there was some discussion about looking at pedestrian walkways that would be private, 


again, under this option. And then a sewer access trail which is a gravel path over the existing 


sanitary sewer easement. 


 


Then options 3 and 3a, again, as we had talked about, they either moved that seventh building 


either on the inside or the outside of Creekside Circle.  But what I want you to focus in on this 


particular one, 3 and 3a is the location of the sidewalks.  Again, sidewalks in these options would 


be on 91st Street on the north side and the south side.  And on the south side they would 


interconnect and link on Creekside Circle.  And on the inside of Creekside Circle it would loop 


all the way around.  So adjacent on the north side and the south side it adds some additional 


sidewalks.  What it doesn’t do is it does not bring sidewalks into any of the cul-de-sac areas or 


any of the dead ended cul-de-sac areas.  And then what we did is we just generally at the Plan 


Commission meeting, again, talked about sidewalks.  And that’s what each of these options do is 


really identify where sidewalks would be located per each of the different options.   


 


Again, as part of the PUD development that the developer is seeking tonight with respect to the 


seven multifamily apartments on the west end adjacent to 91st Street some of the benefit items for 


the Village, one in particular would be the sidewalks would be installed at this time.  And they’d 


also be installed outside of his development, and they would loop at the inner side of Creekside 


Circle abutting the existing multifamily owner occupied condominium development.  So none of 


those existing residents would be obligated to install any of those sidewalks.  But when sidewalks 


are installed once they’re in and they’ve been accepted by the Village the abutting landowners, 


and in this case it would be the condominium association, they would have the obligation to plow 


them, salt them or replace them if they were ever damaged. 


 


And then, again, option 3a is one of the preferred options from the conversation from the Plan 


Commission if it moves forward.  And, again, that shows where the public sidewalks would be 


located.  And, again, that sewer access pedestrian trail, again, would be gravel over the top of the 


sanitary sewer in order for us to access that system.  And then this final option was the 4a, and 


this was the followup that was presented by the developer at the Plan Commission meeting that 


would show multifamily rental buildings if any of the other options were dismissed. 


 


We did go through in detail at previous meetings the square footage, the location of the buildings, 


what they would look like, the stone, the brick materials for all the buildings.  They are set up 


similar to condominiums in that they have individual entries, no common hallways and no shared 


entrances.  Then we went through all of the building elevations, again, on all four sides as well as 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


19 


identifying that each building would have eleven one bedroom one bath, one two bedroom one 


bathroom, six two bedroom two bath, and two three bedroom two bath. 


 


We did go into some detail before the Plan Commission in talking about Workforce Housing, that 


it’s designed for active individuals and families.  And then there was considerable discussion as 


to what the minimum rents would be, the maximum rents, how many units would be in each 


building, the minimum/maximum incomes, the hourly wages that people would have to make in 


order to rent one of these units.  S.R. had mentioned that the goal of these units is to offer 


efficient and sustainable housing solutions that enable working individuals in moderate income 


locations or emerging professionals to live in the communities in which they work. 


 


And we went into quite a bit of detail in talking about the 2018 ESRI data for Pleasant Prairie that 


was provided to us by Baker Tilly Virchow Krause.  And we talked about the 28 percent of the 


Village residents have annual incomes less than $50,000 per year, and 42 percent of the Village 


residents have annual incomes less than $75,000.  Bear indicated that no more than 30 percent of 


the gross income of any of the renters would be spent on monthly rent.  And so they had put 


together a chart that shows that there would be a number of individuals that would qualify that 


could rent at one of these units. 


 


We did go into quite a bit of detail, again, between the income levels of who could rent where.  


And there was a comparison based on what a typical mortgage was in Pleasant Prairie and with 


taxes and insurance what someone would pay for a typical single family home that’s average.  


One of the other points that we wanted to make with respect to this is that, and I think we say it 


later, is that these rental rates do not include the additional amounts for utilities as well as I think 


garages. 


 


So we did go through and obtain information not only from Bear Development but also from the 


state, WHEDA and others with respect to rental rates, how Workforce Housing is provided in 


each community, the followup work that needs to be done by the IRS in verification of incomes 


every year.  This is not a rental subsidy.  The full monthly rent as stated does need to be paid by 


the residents.  They cannot get any vouchers or tax credits themselves in order to afford these 


units. Some of the units, 56 of them, actually have market rate rents based on the monthly rents 


for our particular market.  And that residents have to also post security. 


 


Some of the other things that were mentioned is the Workforce Housing compliance and the 30 


year last use restriction agreement upon Bear’s receipt of the final approval from WHEDA with 


respect to post construction.  Requirements need to be monitored by WHEDA for a period of 30 


years at this location.  Some resident qualification information, it’s intended that any prospective 


resident based on credit history will be reviewed, criminal background checks, employment 


verification and asset verification.  Again, it’s important to note that anybody who would live 


here must be working or has to have a steady income.  They can’t just live here without having an 


income.  Bear Property Management engages a third party provider to complete background 


checks.  And then all residents have to demonstrate that certifiable monthly income equal to three 


times the monthly rent. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


20 


Leases will limit the maximum number of occupants per unit.  Bear must comply with all federal 


requirements.  And then we went to how many individuals could be in each of the bedrooms and 


whether or not they were married, married couple with an infant and so on and so forth, how 


many could actually be located within each.  And then finally we did go back through the options 


one more time, 1, 2, 3, 3a, 4, 4a.  


 


So just a couple other things just to highlight.  We’ve talked about these things before, public 


infrastructure, site access, traffic.  Again, all infrastructure must be paid for by the developer to 


complete Creekside Circle.  And in this case also sidewalk installation, 91st Street, the bridge, the 


sewer, the water, the storm sewer, the curb and gutter, the lights and landscaping and all those 


other types of public requirements.  We did talk about sidewalks based on the new ordinance 


regarding installation of sidewalks by the Village Board and the current policies to complete 


loops or neighborhood blocks and to minimize dead ends that are mid block.  The alternative is to 


have the developer in this case as part of the public benefit for this development to have and 


install five food wide concrete sidewalks adjacent to the areas that are being developed as well as 


finishing off the dead end and looping Creekside Circle around the project. 


 


We did get into some of the details with respect to Bear Property Management and their history 


within the community.  How people would contact management, that there would be a leasing 


office, and that all of their buildings would be monitored by video surveillance exterior.  This 


would not be in the single family area but just the multifamily area as part of our DSIS system 


requirements.  There’s a parking management plan that Bear implements that addresses vehicles 


from being parked for extended periods of time in certain areas and parking lots.  They are also 


going to request that there will be no parking on 91st Street as well when the buildings are 


occupied so that it would not clutter up 91st Street with respect to parking of vehicles. 


 


They also worked with the staff with respect to a community benefit item is that there will be 


some pet free buildings for residents and others who for allergies or for whatever other reason 


cannot have pets within their building, so they agreed to have three of the buildings would be pet 


free.  They agreed to limit the pets to one and a maximum of 40 pounds.  And they also agreed to 


restrict breeds.  And then they talked about their eviction process and their nonrenewal process 


which is required nonrenewal each year if people become un-income qualified. 


We did talk about property values, and we read a report that was presented by our Village 


Assessor.  I know most of you had heard that because you were at the Plan Commission meeting.  


We did talk about the floodplain boundary adjustment work that still needs to be done with 


respect to the grading and the site work, and it has to be field verified and presented to FEMA 


upon completion of the project.  We did go into the fact that there are some pocket wetlands 


within the wetland that do need to be filled and would be allowed to be filled under the 


requirements as set forth by the DNR.  And then I believe finally we just had the various options 


again. 


 


So that was the presentation before the Plan Commission.  Again, as you know, the Plan 


Commission went back and forth a little bit on Monday with respect to the various options.  


Again, I think that they eventually decided at that time that they could not make a decision, and 


so they decided to deny all the options.  But they felt that option 3a and 4 were still two options, 


one was more of a viable option as requested which is 3a, and the option 4a or 4 both of those 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


21 


basically show the similar concept that if the other options were denied the developer could come 


back and actually just request what was referred to then as straight line zoning or basic district 


zoning which is what would be entitled by law based on the R-8, -9 and -10, meeting the 


underlying basic district requirements and setbacks. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Mike? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


On the January 28th meeting the plan that was submitted was met with considerable opposition 


from the residents and understandably so.  This area is a high growth area.  We’re going to see 


development coming, and it’s going to continue from the state line all the way to Milwaukee.  We 


have to provide housing for our residents who are going to work in this area.  When the people 


spoke I don’t think a Plan Commission member went home that night and felt good about what he 


heard, and I was one of them.   And I said that night that we have to come to compromise.  And 


between staff and Bear Development they came to compromise, and I think what I heard tonight 


and I have to agree with is 3a might be the compromise that we’re looking for.   


 


The one thing I think we have to consider is we’re dealing with a developer that’s local.  We’re 


not dealing with somebody that’s from Illinois, California, Madison, Green Bay.  Their 


development is local and it’s been local, and as far as I know will continue to be local and that 


means something.  I’ve been a part of their development in the Village, I have no complaints with 


the quality that they put out.  I think in the past we’re hearing comments about a certain type of 


people living in the apartments.  I think it’s important that we don’t look at a person’s income, we 


look at the person for what they are and what they do.  I’m in favor of 3a.  I think it’s the way to 


go right now. 


 


As far as sidewalks go, if this goes forward we’re going to be putting a considerable amount of 


more people in this area.  With the single family homes that’s usually going to be families.  And 


with families they have young kids that want to ride their bicycles, four or five or six or seven 


years old you don’t want to put them on the street so you let them ride their bikes on the 


sidewalk.  I wouldn’t want to be a part of a neighborhood that got a kid picked off by a car 


passing him up or a loved one walking on the street instead of a sidewalk.  So there’s a safety 


factor.  I realize there’s an expense to go along with it, but I think it’s a safety factor that we 


should consider.  And ultimately I think when it happens we’re going to be glad it did.  As I said 


I’m glad the people spoke as they did.  I think we’ve come to a good compromise, and I’d be in 


favor of 3a.  Thank you. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Time changes all things, and the Plan Commission and the Board back when Mastercraft 


developed Creekside it was a condominium development, it laid out pretty nice.  At the time we 


felt it was going to be a little bit difficult to build that out because there was a lot of vacant land, 


and there was some fairly large improvements to be put into the development mostly related to 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


22 


the stormwater management for the ponds and for a bridge over that branch of Jerome Creek.  As 


it turned out as we all know the development fell to the same axe that most developments fell to 


during the great recessions.  And even though I think the land was acquired at a lesser cost 


probably than Mastercraft acquired it for, putting those improvements in still weren’t sustainable 


without putting a plan together that would accomplish it. 


 


I felt from a public service standpoint not having Creekside Circle be a full circle to encircle the 


whole development, plus having that extra access out at 91st Street really compromises public 


safety at some point.  When someone makes a call for a police officer or a rescue squad 


especially on something that’s called Creekside Circle there’s all the opportunities you could 


imagine for somebody to get the wrong address.  And if the circle wasn’t closed somebody is 


going to be backing up and going out, back out to 93rd Street to get back over to the other side.   


 


And it’s important that public safety vehicles and those most important services we deliver you 


can get to a place in an organized manner.  I’ve seen it happen in some places where that couldn’t 


happen.  And I’ve seen the worse case scenario where a snowplow couldn’t maneuver around to 


get out and actually backed over a person because there wasn’t enough room to articulate the 


truck around and get out like they should.  And ever since that happened the Village has made a 


concentrated effort to make sure that all the roads as they go in they can be traversed and be 


safely managed and safely used by the traveling public. 


 


I had some initial concerns about moving all the multifamily development on that area between 


the Creekside development and the Frontage Road.  It was pretty well packed in.  I think that 


moving one of the buildings onto Creekside Circle, and I understand that’s not probably preferred 


by everybody, but I think it helps loosen up that density.  And to be honest with you people 


coming on 91st Street they’re going to be looking in at an apartment building and you’re not 


going to be shining lights on a single family home with their picture window looking at 91st 


Street. 


 


I think for me, again as I said, what we could have done when the original development was done 


in requiring owner occupied housing versus what we can require now doesn’t exist.  It’s not to 


say that we should say no until we get owner occupied housing, I don’t see how that happens.  I 


don’t see how we legally get to that point where we say we’re going to allow multifamily housing 


here, and we can’t say whether it’s homeowner or rental.  I’m not sure -- that was in use probably 


prior to the great recession.   


 


And I know there were a lot of communities that had problems with it at the time because 


someone buys a condo, they lose their job, the first thing they might try to do is rent out their 


condo so they don’t lose what they have as an investment and they go someplace else where they 


can afford it.  Well, they can’t rent their condo out.  So then it’s the worst of all worlds.  


Somebody is living in a condo, they can’t rent it out, they can’t afford to pay for it and it ends up 


going to the bank.  And that was happening in a lot of the condo communities that were out there.  


And in the end it didn’t help anybody.  That doesn’t mean it’s a license to make them cheap or do 


it the wrong way. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


23 


But I think that’s one of the things that drove the State Legislature to change that law that says if 


you have multifamily housing you can’t sit there and say whether they have to buy or rent it.  It’s 


got to be multifamily housing that meets the standards of the community, meets the development 


standards, it looks appropriate, it functions well, and if it’s rental it’s rental.  If the developer 


wants to do it as condominiums that’s fine.  But we can’t make that controlled statement now. 


 


So if we go away from 3a then you’re looking at option 4a or 4, and then you’re looking at all 


apartments.  And I’m pretty positive from everything I heard that that was one of the things that 


nobody wanted within that Creekside Circle was all apartments.  But I think by in a sense 


winning the battle you end up losing the war because I think it ensures that the next development 


is going to be apartments.  Whereas at this point the developer and the staff with input from 


property owners that were at the hearings have come up with something that not everybody is 


getting what they want, but everybody is getting the most of what they want and something that’s 


doable.   


 


I feel comfortable as Trustee Serpe indicated that Bear Development is a known quantity.  We’ve 


worked with them in other areas of the Village.  We haven’t had problems.  And just by the 


structure of their development here they’ve got a vested interest for 30 years to make sure that 


this place operates the way they need to operate.  And the Village standards for how the place is 


kept up is going to go on regardless of who owns it, 30 years, 32nd year, 35th year.  So I support 


and I concur with Trustee Serpe’s opinion on this.  I think it’s the best for public safety.  I think 


it’s the best for people who are trying to move to the Village and get to a place that’s close to the 


corporate park, whether they’re going to buy a house in Creekside Crossing or they’re going to 


rent an apartment at Creekside Vista.  It’s still a very nice neighborhood.  I don’t think it’s going 


to be diminished at all. 


 


But one question I had, and I think I probably know the answer to it from looking at these maps, 


but the original plan for Creekside Crossing identified that the sidewalk or the trail was going to 


parallel the creek or be in that corridor, does the floodplain preclude that from happening?  That’s 


why we have to use sidewalks around it. 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Yes. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Okay.  And the sidewalks if you have a developer that’s willing to pay for that up front 


construction cost which I believe is over $200,000, rather than having the Village come back at 


some point after something has happened out there or whatever, then we’re going to be assessing 


the existing property owners for the cost of the sidewalk.  I’ve been at those hearings.  I hate 


them.  Nobody is really happy with it.  Nobody is happy paying more for maintenance either, but 


it’s a lot less than paying for installing a whole brand new sidewalk system and fooling around 


with the trees that are in the way.  I think this is an expense that the developer is willing to take 


on, I think it saves the existing property owners a lot of money down the road.  That’s all the 


comments I have. 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


24 


Nathan Thiel: 


 


President Steinbrink, just one comment just for clarification because there were some questions or 


some comments made about why it’s coming before the Board this evening.  Jean covered that in 


a basic manner, but just I wanted to highlight one specific detail.  And that is that the Plan 


Commission isn’t a body that makes a decision.  They make recommendations.  And according to 


our ordinance and processes it is required for us to bring this action or this item all the way to the 


Board independent of the decision or not the decision but the recommendation that came from the 


Plan Commission. 


 


And just another case in point of complication, in making a decision tonight in one of the 


discussions that we’ve had as staff and also with S.R. Mills is that the concept of bringing 4 and 


3a back to the Plan Commission is somewhat complicated.  Because technically speaking 3a 


would require another public hearing since the Plan Commission rejected the plan, it wasn’t 


tabled or anything of that nature.  Four on the other hand does not require any public hearing or 


public notice or discussion.  And so that also complicated the situation in the sense that then it’s 


the developer who would be making kind of their choice of what would be their preferred option 


knowing that they’ve already sent a significant amount of time bringing the options to the table, 


to the Plan Commission.  My guess is that it would just continue to push them towards the 4 or 4a 


option that was presented to you tonight. 


 


And then in saying that one of the things that I noted, the feedback that I received just in brief 


from the public after the meeting is there was not much appetite for 4 or 4a from the public.  


Now, I realize that I only spoke with a few, but I think that, again, both Trustee Serpe and Trustee 


Pollocoff your assessment of 3a being the better solution of those options presented I think is 


reflective of what I also heard from the public.  So I just wanted to make those comments to just 


clarify the process in case there were any further questions amongst those who attended this 


evening. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Any further discussion? 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Jean, I has a question on the price points for the houses.  One of the notes said the average was in 


the $300,000 range.  Do you know what the low and the high price range will be? 


 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


So currently that $300,000 was a number that was provided by our Village Assessor, and that’s 


based on the average existing housing value in the Creekside development currently with respect 


to single family.  S.R. Mills is indicating that based on the construction costs and land costs that 


that is going to be closer to between $425,000 and $500,000.  It’s going to be a much higher than 


when the other homes were built.  And I think he did mention that they would be probably 


comparable to the homes that are under construction right now in Arbor Ridge. 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


25 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


I don’t have the longevity and awareness that both Mike’s do and President Steinbrink with this 


type of development.  But I’m trying to approach this from the practical sense from my few years 


on this Board as well as coupled with my day job for Kenosha Unified.  And having the role there 


that allows me to make decisions that impact tens of thousands of people I don’t think one’s ever 


been made in which everybody is happy.  And usually when you try and work with people to 


understand the compromise you have to educate them in certain areas. 


 


And in doing research for projects like this it’s usually a much better outcome for all involved the 


longer people are residents of whatever location that they choose to be, whether they’re owner 


occupied or whether they’re renters or condo owners.  It also helps that it’s organized and 


managed in a quality manner and not just some external party that might be a greater distance 


from a physical sense away from that which they manage. 


 


I also try to approach this from the standpoint that I don’t know what my neighbor’s credit history 


is, but if it didn’t meet the threshold do I have the right to argue to not have them live there?  I 


don’t know what their criminal background checks are for all of my neighbors or what their 


employment verification is.  And not knowing that from that standpoint doesn’t diminish my 


responsibility to work to be a good neighbor for my responsibility.  And it’s been highlighted, and 


I think this needs to be reiterated that this governing body does not have full extreme authority in 


this matter.  We have the expectation and the responsibility to address the needs of this 


community, and it is a larger community.  We need housing, not just the Village of Pleasant 


Prairie and not just Kenosha County, but we need housing, and we need housing for a lot of 


people.  And that’s only become more and more abundantly clear as either the Village puts on 


presentations or KABA does reports based on growth.  We just need some type of housing. 


 


And so in that same sense I concur with what’s already been said for these reasons that if it’s a 


quality development and we work to find the appropriate compromise.  And I listened, last week I 


sat in the back and listened, and I’m very appreciative of everybody and their comments, both the 


residents as well as the developer.  And the fact that everybody is conducting themselves in a 


very responsible manner I think is a tremendous asset for this community. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Okay, discussion being made is there a motion for the Ordinance 19-06? 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I will move approval of Ordinance 19-06. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I’ll second that. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


26 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second for adoption of Ordinance 19-06.  Further discussion?  If not a 


roll call vote has been requested. 


 


Vesna Savic: 


 


 Dave Klimisch? 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Aye. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Aye. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Aye. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion carries. 


 


SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #19-06 FOR A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 


AMENDMENT RELATING TO THE WHITTIER CREEK NEIGHBORHOOD PLAN, 


LOCATED NORTH OF 93RD STREET AND EAST OF OLD GREEN BAY ROAD; SECONDED 


BY POLLOCOFF; ROLL CALL VOTE – KLIMISCH - AYE; POLLOCOFF – AYE; KECKLER 


– AYE; STEINBRINK – AYE; SERPE – AYE; MOTIONED CARRIED 5-0.  


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


With that, John, Item C I would move that we send Conceptual Plan 3a forward.  Is that what 


we’re looking for? 


 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


27 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I would second that. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second for looking at Conceptual Plan 3a.  I don’t think I can remember 


a plan that has been more discussed in the years I’ve been here.  And I appreciate all the 


comments made by Board members and the comments made by the residents and the developer.  


And I have to concur with the fact I appreciate the fact that we have a known quality, quantity 


developer that we’re working with versus something we may not have the control over or the 


reputation that this developer has.  As it’s been said not everybody is going to be happy, but I 


think at the end of the day we’re going to have a product that is quite doable and an addition to 


this community.  With that, is there any further discussion?  We have a motion and a second.  


Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


 SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE CONCEPTUAL PLAN 3A FOR THE PROPERTIES 


NORTH OF THE CREEKSIDE CROSSING DEVELOPMENT AND ADJACENT VACANT 


PROPERTIES TO THE WEST OF THE VISTA AT CREEKSIDE DEVELOPMENT; 


SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


To the residents, again, thank you very much for your input.  Thank you. 


 


 D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Certified Survey Map, 


Easement Vacation and Addendum to the Memorandum of Understanding relating 


to the vacant property east of 9201 Wilmot Road. 
 


Jean Werbie-Harris: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a consideration of a CSM, some easement 


vacation documents and an addendum to the memorandum of understanding including site and 


development plans.  And this is at the request of Kevin Risch who is the agent on behalf of Prairie 


Holdings LLC.  This is for the development of the vacant land that is located to the east of 9201 


Wilmot Road.  The petitioner is looking to create three properties and to grade the properties and 


to install some private improvements to service the new lots being created. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


28 


Previously before you was a Master Conceptual Plan that evaluated this area adjacent to 9201 


Wilmot Road.  It created and identified to create three lots, Lot 1, 2 and 3.  At that time Extra 


Space Storage which is an indoor climate controlled storage unit development was identified as 


the first designated user within this development.  At that time the conceptual plan identified that 


there would be what is referred to as like a north/south road that would connect as a private road 


between Wilmot Road and 88th Avenue.  And this would also provide backdoor access to Fire 


and Rescue Station #2.   


 


In addition, there was an east/west road between Extra Space Storage and Lot 3 that would 


provide access to the 9201 Wilmot Road building, as well as an access road that kind of wound 


around and provided access to the Village’s water tower and substation. 


 


As you can see there were three lots that are proposed, Lot 1 3.7 acres with a building that could 


be just over 14,000 square feet; Lot 2 which is just over 6.2 acres, and that would be for 127,000 


approximately climate controlled mini storage building known as Extra Space Storage; and Lot 3 


which would be 7.7 acres which could be developed with a 43,500 square foot building.  Again, 


access for all of these uses would be off of Wilmot Road or 88th Avenue, no direct access to the 


adjacent county highway on C or on 88th Avenue which is County H. 


 


The Certified Survey Map is presented to you, and we actually had received a more current one 


that addressed the one that you had in your packets was all marked up with red.  These comments 


for the most part I’m going to relook at it one last time but have all been addressed.  And our 


Village Attorney has been working with their Attorney Adam Bardosy out of Milwaukee to make 


sure that all of the detailed dedications as well as the declarations that they all mirror together so 


that we were having the same restrictions on both the CSM as well as the declarations to be 


recorded for the development. 


 


Again, this is a project that does require that there be some private improvements that are to be 


developed on the site.  That being said there are some sets of private improvements that have an 


impact on the Village, one of which is the private roadway improvements, and the second is the 


stormwater basin improvements.  So for that reason the Village is asking for security to be posted 


to guarantee that the private improvements related to stormwater a well as the private 


improvements for the roadway, again, that provides service to Station 2, that those elements be 


incorporated into the letter of credit.  Matt Fineour, our Village Engineer, provided some 


additional information to them so that they know that the letter of credit or cash on deposit that 


they provide at a minimum does need to provide that financial security to the Village. 


 


In addition because of the request by Extra Space Storage, the future owner, to close sooner than 


later, they have agreed to be a cosigner to the first amendment to the memorandum of 


understanding in addition to Dave Doro to provide some additional assurance and security with 


the Village that they as a partner and future owner of Lot 2 that they would be committed to 


satisfying any requirements of the Village.  In addition, our intention really is to not issue the 


building permit until actually these improvements have been secured and the improvements have 


been completed. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


29 


So with that we have worked through a lot of these issues.  We’re finalizing everything as they 


would like to close next week with respect to Dave Doro.  And we just need to get some final 


reviews of these documents.  And the staff recommends approval of all of these documents 


including the first amendment to the MOU, the Certified Survey Map, the declarations as well as 


the other items that include the vacation of one of the easements and the detailed engineering 


plans as prepared by Mr. Risch and then reviewed by our engineering department subject to the 


staff comments and conditions as outlined. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


I’d move that the CSM, easement vacation documents, the addendum to the memorandum of 


understanding including site plans and engineering and the staff comments be approved as 


presented tonight. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


POLLOCOFF MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 


RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP, EASEMENT VACATION 


AND ADDENDUM TO THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING RELATING TO THE 


VACANT PROPERTY EAST OF 9201 WILMOT ROAD; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 


 E. Consider and approve Resolution #19-05 for 47th Avenue Water Main and Sanitary 


Sewer Extension. 
 


Matt Fineour: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, you’ve seen this before you one previous time, and that 


was for the design service agreement for this project.  Now we’re before you to pass the 


preliminary resolution for assessments.  To give you, again, an overview of the project, the 


project is to extend the sanitary sewer approximately 400 feet to service an existing home that’s 


being rebuilt.  They have a failed septic system.  They’re rebuilding their home, so we’re going to 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


30 


extend the sanitary sewer so they can hook up to the municipal sewer system.  At the same time 


we’re going to basically do a system improvement for the water main and connect an existing 


loop -- or not an existing loop, we’re going to extend the water main to provide a new loop where 


two mains dead end currently. 


 


The preliminary resolution is just an intent to exercise police powers for assessment.  We will be 


back another time with the final resolution which will include the engineering report for the 


project final plans and an assessment schedule in which a public hearing will be held when we 


complete that.  With that if there’s any questions I’d be happy to answer them. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Move approval of Resolution 19-05 for the water main. 


 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #19-05 FOR 47TH AVENUE 


WATER MAIN AND SANITARY SEWER EXTENSION; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION 


CARRIED 5-0.  
 


 G. Consider and approve Letter of Credit Reduction No. 1 for The Cottages at Village 


Green, LLC - Phase 2. 
 


Matt Fineour: 


 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a letter of credit reduction for The Cottages 


Phase 2.  They started their construction earlier this spring, and as construction commences they 


have periodic reductions in their letter of credit.  This is their first reduction amount in the amount 


of $201,470.99.  With the approval of this reduction they’ll still have a remaining letter of credit 


of approximately $1.9 million. With that I would recommend that the letter of credit reduction get 


approved.  If there’s any questions I’d be happy to answer them. 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


31 


Michael Serpe: 


 


So moved. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE LETTER OF CREDIT REDUCTION NO. 1 FOR 


THE COTTAGES AT VILLAGE GREEN, LLC - PHASE 2; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 


MOTION CARRIED 5-0.  
 


 H. Consider disallowance of claim submitted by Kenneth Kataja for damage to his 


vehicle that occurred near Highway H and Highway C on March 1, 2019. 
 


Tom Shircel: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President and Village Trustees.  Before you is an insurance claim from Mr. 


Kenneth Kataja.  The League of Wisconsin Municipalities Mutual Insurance insures the Village 


of Pleasant Prairie, and Statewide Services, Inc., administers our insurance claims.  As you stated, 


Statewide Services has reviewed the claim from Kenneth Kataja and recommends that the Village 


deny the claim alleging that a piece of cardboard flew out of a Village garbage truck and damages 


his vehicle near County Trunk Highways H and C.  The basis for denial is the investigation 


revealed no negligence on behalf of the Village, and there’s no proof that the cardboard in 


question came from the Village truck and that it caused the auto damage that Mr. Kataja claimed.  


And with that the Village staff recommends a disallowance of the claim submitted by Mr. Kataja 


for damage to his vehicle allegedly caused by a piece of cardboard that flew out of a garbage 


truck near County Trunk Highway C and H on March 1, 2019. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Move approval. 


 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


32 


Michael Serpe: 


 


I’d second that.  I’d like to know how a piece of cardboard can fly out of an enclosed trucks. 


 


Tom Shircel: 


 


Your guess is as good as mine. 


John Steinbrink: 


 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 


 


KECKLER MOVED TO DISALLOW THE CLAIM FILED BY KENNETH KATAJA 


FOR DAMAGE TO HIS VEHICLE THAT OCCURRED NEAR HIGHWAY H AND 


HIGHWAY C ON MARCH 1, 2019; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


 I. Consider disallowance of claim submitted by Doug Anderson for damage to his 


vehicle by a snow plow truck on January 28, 2019. 
 


Tom Shircel: 


 


Thank you, Mr. President and Village Trustees.  Again, Statewide Services has reviewed this 


claim by Mr. Doug Anderson and recommends that the Village deny the Anderson claim alleging 


that a Village snowplow truck damaged the side of his vehicle that was parked in the street in 


front of 7405 45th Avenue.  The basis for this denial is the investigation revealed no negligence 


on behalf of the Village.  The snowplow drivers maintain that they did not strike Mr. Anderson’s 


vehicle.  There are no known witnesses to the alleged incident.  Investigation showed red marks 


on Mr. Anderson’s vehicle door whereby Village plow trucks are all painted yellow.  The height 


of the hit was also more similar to that of a residential snowplow truck rather than a Village 


vehicle. 


 


And, finally the damage to the claimant’s vehicle does not correspond with the height of Village 


snowplow trucks and their blades.  And with that the Village staff recommends a disallowance of 


this claim submitted by Mr. Anderson for damage to his vehicle allegedly caused by a Village 


snowplow truck on January 28, 2019. 


 


 


 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


33 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Move to deny. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second for denial.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 


Voices: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Opposed?  So carries. 


 


SERPE MOVED TO DISALLOW THE CLAIM FILED BY DOUG ANDERSON FOR 


DAMAGE TO HIS VEHICLE BY A SNOW PLOW TRUCK ON JANUARY 28, 2019; 


SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 


 


8. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 


9. ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO §19.85(1)(E) WIS. STATS., TO 


DISCUSS, DELIBERATE OR NEGOTIATE THE PURCHASE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY, 


INVEST OF PUBLIC FUNDS, OR CONDUCT OTHER SPECIFIED PUBLIC BUSINESS, 


WHENEVER COMPETITIVE OR BARGAINING REASONS REQUIRE A CLOSED 


SESSION. 
 


Michael Serpe: 


 


So moved. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Second. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion and a second.  A roll call vote is requested. 


 


Vesna Savic: 


 


Mike Serpe? 







Village Board Minutes 


March 18, 2019 


 


 


34 


Michael Serpe: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Aye. 


 


Kris Keckler: 


 


Aye. 


 


Mike Pollocoff: 


 


Aye. 


 


Dave Klimisch: 


 


Aye. 


 


John Steinbrink: 


 


Motion carries.  The Board will return to open session for the purpose of adjournment only.  No 


other business will be conducted. 


 


SERPE MOVED TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION; SECONDED BY 


KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE:  KECKLER – AYE; KUMORKIEWICZ – AYE; 


SERPE – AYE; KLIMISCH – AYE; STEINBRINK – AYE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 


 


10. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 


 


After discussion, SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE 


MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE – SERPE – YES; STEINBRINK – 


YES; KECKLER – YES; POLLOCOFF – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0 


AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:45 P.M. 


 







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 


Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 - 39th Avenue 


Pleasant Prairie, WI 
April 1, 2019 


6:00 p.m. 
 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on April 1, 2019.  Meeting 
called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, Mike 
Pollocoff, Dave Klimisch and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator; Tom 
Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; Kathy 
Goessl, Finance Director; Dave Smetana, Police Chief; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; Matt 
Fineour, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human Resources 
Director; Dan Honore', IT Director; Sandro Perez, Inspection Superintendent; Craig Anderson, Recreation 
Director; and Jane C. Snell, Village Clerk. One (1) citizen attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


If people turn around you’ll notice a large flag at the back of the room, and that is courtesy of 
Trustee Serpe.  That’s your father-in-law’s flag. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


That’s my father-in-law’s flag. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


And he has donated that to the Village. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


He passed away about 12 years ago. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We don’t have to make a repair in the wall there.  That worked very well. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
2 


4. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mr. President, we did have one signup this evening, Ken Harju. 
 
Ken Harju: 
 


Hello, everybody.  I just came to say thanks.  It’s been a long time at Creekside that we got to a 
development that was a compromise and it’s good for everybody.  I’d just like to thank the Board, 
the Plan Commission, all the professionals that stood up here, the residents of the community and 
S.R. Mills and Bear Construction.  That’s for all your time, effort and everything else.  And I’m 
grateful to be part of this Village.  Thanks. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you.  That’s the only signup? 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


No further signups. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments? 
 
5. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider and approve Resolution #19-07 authorizing the Issuance and Sale of 


$9,100,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2019. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


I’ll be talking about A and B together but we have to vote on them separately. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Then we will take up Item B also. 
 
 B. Consider and approve Resolution #19-08 Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of 


$7,900,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, 2019. 
 
 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
3 


Kathy Goessl: 
 


Mr. President and the Village Board, we went out for sale today on two issues, a taxable issue and 
a tax exempt issue.  The first one, the $9 million, is a tax exempt issue.  It sold at nine million 
ninety instead of the $9,100,000 that was on the resolution.  This is for three purposes.  First of all 
the first purpose is for RecPlex.  We’re borrowing for a little over $3.2 million in projects.  Most 
of these projects have already been completed.  We’re reimbursing the RecPlex about $2.6 
million.  The biggest projects that were done out there was the bathroom expansion off the field 
house and the pool pack improvement in the pool for one was a little under a million dollars, the 
other one is a little over a million dollars.  And then there’s other smaller projects that were done 
throughout the building and then a couple projects yet to be done. 


 
And the second purpose for this tax exempt issue is TID #6 Main Street highway improvements 
for a little over $2 million.  There’s improvements to Highway 165 intersection, modifications to 
Old Green Bay Road, traffic signals on 102nd Street east extension.  This bond is being issued 
based on a guarantee by Froedtert for the tax increment to be generated.  And then the third 
purpose for this tax exempt is in TID #5 Prairie Highlands.  We’re looking at $1.6 million in road 
improvements.  And then we’re looking at $1.6 million in a water main extension east of I-94 to 
finish the loop in that section.  And then we have some planning for the roundabout for three 
hundred and fifty that has been borrowed.  So those are the purposes for the tax exempt 
borrowing. 


 
And then the second resolution is for taxable borrowing of $7.9 million.  This is all in Prairie 
Highlands Corporate Park.  The first part of it is, the major part of it is Prairie Highlands grading 
for a little over $5.2 million.  And then there’s also a development grant to Aurora for the grading 
they did on their own site for $1.8 million.  And then also the electrical and gas that’s being run 
out in Prairie Highlands is also a taxable issue.  Total issue for these things are a little over $7.8 
million.  Standard and Poors has maintained our rating of double A stable.  And Gene Schultz is 
here from Piper Jaffray and Jim Towne from Alpine Valley.  And Gene is going to talk a little bit 
about the interest rate environment and how our bonds priced out. 


 
Gene Schultz: 
 


My name is Gene Schultz.  I’m Managing Director for Piper Jaffray.  I’ll talk about the issue 
itself this morning.  We went out at 9 a.m. with both issues.  The taxable issue sold out within the 
end of our order period which would have been an hour later at ten o’clock so we sold 100 
percent of that.  The tax exempt issue we had problems with.  Out of the $9,090,000 we sold 
about $700,000, but underwriting committed to it.  So without having sold more than $700,000 
we committed to the underwriting.  And that will be validated by an underwriter certificate.  So 
Piper takes a lot of risk at that point in time.  But they believed in the pricing.   


 
What caused the problem we believe is that we kind of came up with a scale last Friday and 
interest rates were looking good.  The rates this morning the ten year jumped up eight basis points 
right while we were doing the pricing.  It made everybody a little bit skittish.  But they believed 
in the pricing so we stuck with the pricing.  And I believe the net interest cost for the tax exempt 
was a 2.54.  I know Jim back there said he was talking to one of the board members, and Jim says 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
4 


I think it was a 2.58, and the trustee said, well, if it’s not 2.54 I may not vote for it.  So somehow 
it just worked out that way.  You can look at the actual run. 


 
Now, talking in general just to give you a brief rundown on interest rates, the last time we did a 
financing for Pleasant Prairie was November 5th, the ten year was 3.20.  Now, this morning while 
we were doing the pricing the ten year was at a 2.48.  So there was a substantial decrease in the 
interest rate.  And I took a look at the pricing that we did in November compared to this one, and 
there was about 60 basis points difference.  So that amounts to substantial savings.  The 
differential in the ten year for the last sale on this year is approximately 20 percent.   


 
Just to give you a rough idea of how rates went since the last, the high point for interest rates was 
three days after we did the initial pricing for November 5th, it was at a 3.23.  The low in interest 
rates during that intervening period was March 29th which was last Friday, 2.37.  So then this 
morning when we went out it was 2.48.  So that’s a lot of figures, but the difference between the 
high and the low just within a five month period is 86 basis points with 27 percent differential in 
how interest rates fluctuate.  I think the last time I was here I talked about the trend in interest 
rates and that was in an up trend.  And I said I can’t predict if it will keep going that way, but I 
would say that if the economy turns around meaning going down interest rates will go down.  
And I think that’s exactly what happened.  So sometimes you’re right and sometimes you’re 
wrong, but I think in this case.  So if there’s any questions I’m here to answer them. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Thank you, Gene.  Any questions for Gene? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I’ve got a quick question.  Nathan, on the private utilities, gas and electric, does that amount for 
everything in Prairie Highlands or is it just -- 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Yes, so they’re current working on everything including, and correct me if I’m wrong, but the 
stormwater utilities are also included in that as well.  We do not have fiber when you’re talking 
utilities. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


So we still have a substantial amount of our escrow left to pay for water, sewer and storm.  And 
what we ran out of money for in the escrow was the private grading which we are borrowing right 
now as taxable.  And then this $1.6 is based on Matt’s, our engineer’s estimate that we’re going 
to be spending in the next year.  We needed a little bit extra money off of TID 5 to finish up the 
road portion.  So the storms are mainly in the escrow still and not in this borrowing.  The only 
thing in this borrowing is the roads and the water main that was not in the original TID #5.  The 
water main that’s over by I-94 Stateline, that’s the water main that wasn’t in there.  And the 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
5 


roundabout, of course, wasn’t in there so that had to be pulled out and taken out of the escrow.  
And the electric and gas wasn’t in there either. 


 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Kathy, you said S&P has kept us at double A stable.  Can you just review where that is, what’s 
above and what’s below it. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Is it A1 below it?  Double A minus is below or double A plus is above.  The major reason why 
we’re not moving upward is because of the level of debt we have outstanding.  I was just talking 
to Gene before our meeting, he’s believing that after pay off the big portion of TID 2 debt we 
should be able to ask for an upgrade in our rating.  But right now that’s the major reason why we 
can’t get an increase in rating because of the amount of debt that we have outstanding mainly for 
TID 2. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I think given what it looks like performance for TID 2 is and TID 5 I don’t think we really have 
anything to worry about.  I hate to say that but both those projects are in real good shape. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


That’s correct.  We’re on trajectory.  I mean technically speaking depending on land sales there’s 
even the potential to close out TID 2 earlier versus the full term. 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Every time we go out for a borrowing out for the TIDs we do a cash flow.  We re-project what 
has already happened and then what we are still projecting to happen to make sure that when we 
structure the debt that it will fill into the cash flow schedule that gets revised each time we 
borrow. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


What’s the estimated value to the Village when TID 2 matures approximately?  I’m not asking for 
-- 


 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


We’re at like $3 point something billion.  I don’t know off the top of my head what it is.  But in 
terms of the increment we’re collecting from them is like $14 million I know for a fact.  I don’t 
have the other numbers off the top of my head. 


 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
6 


Nathan Thiel: 
 


And of that $14 million basically the percentage that would be the Village’s is close to like three. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I move approval of 19-07. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
Kathy Goessl: 
 


Do we need a roll call vote on these two resolutions? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Correct.  We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, roll call vote is 
requested. 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


John Steinbrink? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Aye. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Aye. 
 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
7 


Dave Klimisch: 
 


Move approval of Resolution 19-08. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion on 19-08?  If not, a roll call vote is also 
requested. 


 
Jane Snell: 
 


Mike Pollocoff? 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Aye. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Both motions carry. Thank you, Gene. 
 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #19-07 AUTHORIZING THE 
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF $9,100,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTES, 
SERIES 2019; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBRINK – YES; 
KECKLER – YES; POLLOCOFF – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
8 


 
KLIMISCH MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #19-08 AUTHORIZING THE 


ISSUANCE AND SALE OF $7,900,000 TAXABLE GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY 
NOTES, 2019; SECONDED BY SERPE; ROLL CALL VOTE – POLLOCOFF – YES; KECKLER 
– YES; STEINBRINK – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 C. Consider and approve the Offer of Purchase for vacant known as parcel No. 92-4-


122-153-0050 between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and Creekside PP, LLC. 
 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Thank you, Mr. President and Trustees.  Before you for consideration is a vacant land offer to 
purchase.  The Village owns a piece of land north of the to be 91st Street adjacent to Creekside 
Vista.  It’s Parcel Number 92-4-122-153-0050.  And if the Board will remember from the last 
Board meeting they did approve a conceptual plan for Creekside Vista residential development.  
And specifically this 1.89 parcel if you look on your screen like I said is located just east of Green 
Bay Road and north of 91st Street.  And, again, this parcel is proposed to be purchased by 
Creekside PP, LLC. 


 
The parcel would accommodate a portion of four other proposed 7 20-unit buildings.  It would 
accommodate a portion of the parking area and a portion of the detached garages to serve that 
development.  Again, it’s approximately 1.89 acres.  It’s currently unimproved land.  Condition 
will be sold as is.  There’s a due diligence period of 60 days and a closing date no later than 15 
days after the satisfaction of that due diligence period.  Earnest money would be put up of $2,500, 
and the recommendation of staff is to approve the vacant land purchase for a total purchase price 
of $76,700.  If you have any questions I’ll be happy to answer them. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Tom, I’d like to include in the $76,000 whatever closing costs are involved that the buyer pick up 
those as well. 


 
Tom Shircel: 
 


Yes, we had a discussion with Creekside previous to the meeting and they’re willing to pick up 
those costs. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Then I’ll make a motion to approve the offer to purchase. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 


 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
9 


John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE OFFER OF PURCHASE FOR VACANT KNOWN 
AS PARCEL NO. 92-4-122-153-0050 BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND 
CREEKSIDE PP, LLC; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOITION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 D. Consider and approve the Prairie Highland Corporate Park Purchase and Sale 


Agreement between Village of Pleasant Prairie and Offsite, LLC. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Village Board, this agreement would be between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and the buyer 
Offsite, LLC.  This would be the third parcel or lot within the Prairie Highlands Corporate Park.  
This use is a data center for third party storage.  And one of the discussion points that we’ve had 
is regarding the zoning of the M-5 use and making sure that this use was a good fit for the Prairie 
Highlands Park. 


 
Not presented to you tonight are conceptual designs that we’ve been reviewing with the potential 
land owner.  But their intention is to make it a very highly attractive site.  And on top of that as a 
part of our discussions and negotiations this company has some very high visible users or 
individuals that are storing data at their facility which elevates this company into a higher tier 
bracket. 


 
They are proposing the purchase of 12 acres.  This would be immediately north of the outlot.  It 
will require a developer’s agreement.  And it will also require the Prairie Highlands Corporate 
Park architectural and development control committee to review plans.  Again, like I mentioned 
before, as a part of this proposal or this project it would be a requirement that they elevate the 
design standards so that it is attractive and something that will reflect the image that we want to 
portray at Prairie Highlands. 


 
Part of their contingency is making sure that there is power to the site, and currently We Energies 
is looking at putting a substation on the east side of I-94.  And so that will be a critical piece for 
the buyer.  So this agreement will also be contingent on or subject to Village approvals.  Their 
due diligence period is set to be until November 30th.  And the primary reason is, one, that we 
can complete our improvements at Prairie Highlands.  And then, two, so that the substation -- 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
10 


they can have some assurance that a substation will be put in.  And then after that a 30 day due 
diligence period for closing.  So closing will take place before the end of this year. 


 
There is a minimal earnest money being put down of $10,000.  The total purchase price is 
$185,000 per acre so roughly coming out to $2.2 million.  There is a brokerage fee, but we 
intentionally negotiated so that the closing costs basically set us at a per acre dollar amount that 
we felt comfortable with, and so it will roughly be about $175,000 per acre.  That’s the nuts and 
bolts of the PSA.  If there are any questions I’d be more than willing to answer them at this time. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I think you’ve negotiated a good deal for the Village, and it’s a good amount in that corporate 
park.  I think getting to the price you did was a good target for the parcel that in it’s location and 
given the size.  So I’d move that the Village move into a purchase agreement for Offsite with the 
terms and conditions identified by the Village Administrator. 


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Can I just add one other point just to note.  Because I know that when we typically talk about data 
centers that isn’t necessarily the highest, we don’t necessarily think fancy.  But given the dollar 
amount that they’re willing to pay for this site, and that was something that we really discussed as 
a team, and the amount of vetting that we spent with this company I know that they’re going to 
produce a high quality product.  And so that’s the intent.  So just in case there is ever any 
question or the Board is asked any questions regarding the use, we’re confident that this will be a 
good opportunity and prospect for Prairie Highlands Corporate Park. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Nathan, would there be any chance that Wisconsin Energy wouldn’t put a substation to service it? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


That is a great question, and that’s something that Offsite -- how I understand it, that’s going to 
be something that they’re going to be pushing pretty heavily on their end to make sure that that 
does take place. 


 
 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
11 


Michael Serpe: 
 


It has to take place for this to work, right? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Correct. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Aren’t they doing that substation anyway, it’s just a matter of sizing it? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Correct, and it’s also a matter of timing.  So right now I guess the point is that We Energies, for 
instance, has it in their plans to put the substation in.  Unless there’s someone else coming to the 
table expediting that process they’re going to do it on their time frame.  And so those are going to 
be some decisions that Offsite is going to need to make and review.  Tom, would you add 
anything? 


 
Tom Shircel: 
 


I completely concur with that. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Was there a second to my motion? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Yes.  Any further discussion?  If not, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
 E. Consider and approve Resolution #19-09 Authorizing the Village of Pleasant Prairie 


to enter into an agreement with the City of Kenosha and Wisconsin Department of 
Transportation for the improvement of State Highway 50. 


 
 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
12 


Nathan Thiel: 
 


So in your Village Board packet I outlined several whereas clauses, and I won’t belabor the 
meeting by reading through them all.  But in short the Village has spent a significant amount of 
time working with the City of Kenosha and with DOT to get the City to a point where they can 
move forward with this project.  They currently are the lead agency, and they had significant 
concerns with some of the obligations that they had previously committed to.  I know Mike and 
John have spent some time with me in the Mayor’s office.  In the end the Village is committing to 
no more than what they had previously committed to in the state municipal agreement.  It’s just 
the way we’re expending funds is a little bit different than what had originally been agreed to. 


 
In the end the Village is basically going to commit to pay $1.5 million towards the project as a 
local share to the DOT.  And then we had originally committed to pay for installation of Frontage 
Road, 109th Avenue.  Instead of the Village paying those portions of the price those funds will be 
utilized for a right of way acquisition, in particular the right of way acquisition the majority of it 
is taking place in the City of Kenosha.  So it’s just a different way to cut the pie if you will.  But I 
think in the end this is a much needed asset and much needed improvement and will be of benefit 
to the Village. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


When’s the anticipated project going to start? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


So portions of the project are going to begin even this year.  I know that they’re wanting to let 
portions of the project this year.  But it will extend all the way into 2023. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Any land acquisitions that have taken place, has that taken place already? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


So the Village’s land acquisition has taken place particularly for 109th.  I know that Matt can 
maybe answer this, but I know that we’re working also on some minor right of way and areas 
where utilities that are going to need to be modified.  But, again, the majority of the right of way 
acquisition for some frontage road areas is with the City of Kenosha. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


We already had come to an agreement on this a few years back.  That’s how long the project has 
been hanging out.  And I think that this agreement here what I think it really does it is kind of 
caps our cost.  We know what our number is going to be.  On the previous agreement there was 
upsides so if costs went up costs went up.  And it would be in areas where the Village had no 
control over what those costs would be.  So I think this is good.  If you look at the big picture I 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
13 


think it’s a $73 million, $72 million project.  And the Village is going to benefit by that greatly.  
If you just look at the traffic on Highway 50 between Highway 31 and 94 it’s crazy.  So this is 
needed.  I believe it’s needed in the City, too.  But we do need definitely the improvements. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


The total investment is actually $87 million in the resolution, and that was the last estimate that 
we had received from the DOT.  And just to piggyback, it’s a little bit disappointing that perhaps 
the City doesn’t feel this project is as critical or vital to them which could be argued significantly.  
But I do think that in the end this is a critical project for the region as a whole and for the Village. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We know that the costs are going to continue to rise, and the agreement that we discussed spelled 
out the jurisdiction and maintenance parameters of Highway 50 so that everybody was in 
agreement and there would be no discrepancies in the future hopefully. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Matt or Nathan, do we know what the lane closures are going to be east and west for Highway 50 
during the construction? 


 
[Inaudible] 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Because Highway C is probably going to be get busy, Bain Station is probably going to get busy, 
and I don’t know if either one of those roads are capable of taking on any additional traffic.  It’s 
going to be rough, it’s going to be rough. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


We’ll just direct them to Kenosha. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Go through the neighborhood and it will work perfect. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Move approval of Resolution 19-09. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Second. 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
14 


John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  If not, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries.  The City will be acting on theirs or did act? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


I couldn’t tell you how the City is going to proceed. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


They’ll be doing the same thing. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


They’re going to be signing the same letter.  We presented it with a cover resolution in order to 
further explain that letter. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


The transgression. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


Right. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Okay. 
 
POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE THE PRAIRIE HIGHLAND CORPORATE 


PARK PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT BETWEEN VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
AND OFFSITE, LLC. WITH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS IDENTIFIED BY THE 
VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 F. Consider and approve the award of contract for the 2019 Ladish Tower Painting 


Project to Lane Tank Company, Inc. 
 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
15 


John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, this evening I bring before you the award of contract 
for the 2019 Ladish Tower painting project.  The tower is located on Highway C and Highway H 
by the Ladish factory or when it was a factory.  It as painted in the late ‘90s when we actually had 
to change the elevation of it when we put it on the same pressure zone.  There’s not that many 
tank painting companies that are around so that’s why we only got two bids.  Both of the 
companies that we have are very good companies so we’d be happy with either one of those 
companies doing the work. 


 
So we did get pricing from both of the companies that we would accept.  They’ve both done work 
in the Village in the past.  Lane Tank Company came in at $330,750 which is under budget where 
we were hoping to be.  By the time you add in some engineering and any contingencies that may 
happen to upgrade the tower to where it needs to be to meet all the DNR specifications we should 
still be under budget which we’re happy to announce.  So I guess any questions you may have 
about the tank painting I can answer.  But I do recommend the contract be executed with Lane 
Tank Company for the amount of $330,750. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


So is this inside, outside, the letter, the whole shebang or just the outside? 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


Yeah, this is actually the inside and outside, the dry and the wet.  The only difference is that 
they’re just going to rough up the exterior of it because it was painted not that long ago, and the 
paint has still adhered very well to the metal.  So they’re just going to rough up the exterior and 
paint it.  They’re going to totally blast the inside wet which is just protocol from DNR to do and 
totally blast the inside dry.  As you can see on the photo the last time it was painted it just really 
didn’t stick good.  So we’re going to have to do a total blast on that and repaint it.  There are 
some upgrades that are required from our last inspection that we had to do.  And it’s just minor 
stuff with some venting and some other stuff with our SCADA system that we’re just going to 
upgrade just to make sure that it’s up to speed where it needs to be. 


 
Nathan Thiel: 
 


One thing you had asked about lettering.  I had considered the thought process of utilizing the 
word mark that we had approved here.  But after further evaluation we really feel that this is a 
vertical use anyway, and so the way the lettering is with Pleasant Prairie it would work best 
remaining the same, and it would be consistent with our brand anyway. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


I didn’t know a gallon of Rustoleum was that expensive.  I’d move approval of the contract to 
Lane Tank Company for $330,750. 


 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
16 


Dave Klimisch: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  How many years ago was that? 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


This was the late ‘90s.  I’m sure Mike knows the exact year and date. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


I think it was ‘98. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


It was at the time the tower was lowered. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


That’s correct, it was lowered 40 feet at that time to keep in the same pressure zone.  So it’s due, 
it’s been over 20 years now. 


 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Paint holds up better when it’s taller because you can’t see it going bad. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


Yeah, we did plan on painting it last year, but then with the We Energies closing we ended up 
postponing the capital item until this year. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


I heard Tom Patrizzi was going to paint it but he’s not allowed on a ladder anymore. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


And I can’t find a pole long enough. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
17 


Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 


SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR THE 2019 LADISH 
TOWER PAINTING PROJECT TO LANE TANK COMPANY, INC.; SECONDED BY 
KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 G. Disallowance of Claim of Kristin Pruyn as a result of injuries and damages which 


occurred on September 6, 2016. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 


Mr. President and members of the Board, I’m recommending a disallowance of claim as 
recommended by our insurance company from Kristin Pruyn as a result of injuries and damages 
which occurred on the date September 6, 2016.  Just a quick update.  We were doing some road 
construction.  They were doing some upgrades to the tracks.  We actually had 7th Avenue by the 
tracks on 91st area closed off, hard closed.  She decided to ride her bike into the construction 
zone past the barricades.  Got her tire stuck in a hole, flipped over and got hurt by the tracks.  
Insurance company did a thorough investigation and said it was 100 percent her fault, so 
considered that the Village would not be liable for any of the claim and did recommend a 
disallowance. 


 
Michael Serpe: 
 


Move to concur with the recommendation of the insurance company. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Hearing none, those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Opposed?  Motion carries. 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
18 


 
SERPE MOVED TO DISALLOW THE CLAIM OF KRISTIN PRUYN AS A RESULT OF 


INJURIES AND DAMAGES WHICH OCCURRED ON SEPTEMBER 6, 2016; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
7. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
8. ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO SECTION 19.85(1)(C) TO 


CONSIDER EMPLOYMENT, PROMOTION, COMPENSATION OR PERFORMANCE 
EVALUATION DATA OF ANY PUBLIC EMPLOYEE OVER WHICH THE 
GOVERNMENTAL BODY HAS JURISDICTION OR EXERCISES RESPONSIBILITY 
RELATING TO THE VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR POSITION.  


 
Kris Keckler: 
 


So moved. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Motion and a second.  Roll call vote has been requested. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 


Dave Klimisch? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 


Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 


Aye. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 


Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 


Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 







Village Board Meeting 
April 1, 2019 
 


 
19 


 
Aye. 


 
John Steinbrink: 
 


The Board will return to open session for the purpose of adjournment only.  No other business 
will be conducted. 


 
KECKLER MOVED ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO SECTION 


19.85(1)(C) TO CONSIDER EMPLOYMENT, PROMOTION, COMPENSATION OR 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION DATA OF ANY PUBLIC EMPLOYEE OVER WHICH THE 
GOVERNMENTAL BODY HAS JURISDICTION OR EXERCISES RESPONSIBILITY 
RELATING TO THE VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR POSITION; SECONDED BY 
POLLOCOFF; ROLL CALL VOTE – KLIMISCH – YES; POLLOCOFF – YES; KECKLER – 
YES; STEINBRINK – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
9. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 
 


SERPE MOVED TO RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND ADJOURN THE  
MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKLER; ROLL CALL VOTE – STEINBIRNK – YES; 
KECKLER – YES; KUMORKIEWICZ – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED. 







DEV1904-005 
 


Consider approval of a Lot Line Adjustment for the requests of Scott Kanalakis and 
Bradley Bohat owners of the properties located at 8415 104th Avenue and 8436 103rd 
Avenue to adjust the common lot line between the properties.   


Recommendation: 


Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Lot Line Adjustment 
subject to the comments and conditions of the April 15, 2019 Village Staff Report. 


 


 







DEV1904-005 
 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF APRIL 15, 2019 


Consider approval of a Lot Line Adjustment for the requests of Scott Kanalakis and 
Bradley Bohat owners of the properties located at 8415 104th Avenue and 8436 103rd 
Avenue to adjust the common lot line between the properties.   


 


The owners of the properties are requesting approval of a lot line adjustment between the 
two properties.  A portion (140 feet by 62.41 feet) of the property located at 8415 104th 
Avenue (Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-083-0035) was erroneously omitted as exception in 
the legal description in deed in satisfaction of land contract for the property at 8436 103rd 


Avenue (Tax Parcel Number 91-4-122-083-0036).   


In working with the owners respective attorneys it was discovered that, the land contract 
dated September 15, 1992 excepting this potion from the legal description, but the 1995 
deed in satisfaction omitted this exception.  Furthermore, a fence was erected in 1992 along 
the line described in the Land Contract, and since that date both adjoining property owners 
have used their properties as if the fence line were their common lot line.  Both property 
owners have agreed to adjust the common property line to reflect the legal description in 
the Land Contract and respective owner’s use thereafter. 


The properties are zoned R-5, Urban Single Family Residential District, and the lots after the 
adjustment will exceed the minimum lot area of 10,000 square feet as required in the R-5 
District.  Therefore, the Lot Line Adjustment, will comply with the requirements set forth in 
the Village Zoning Ordinance and Land Division and Development Control Ordinance. 


Recommendations:  


The Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Lot Line Adjustment 
subject to the petitioners recording the proper transfer/deed documents with the Plat of 
Survey for the Lot Line Adjustment as an Exhibit at the Kenosha County Register of Deeds 
Office within 30 days of final Village approval and providing a recorded copy to the Village. 


 


 































Consider the request of Mark Eberle, P.E. of Nielsen, Madsen and Barber, agent on behalf of the 


Chabad Lubavitch of Kenosha, Inc. owner of the property located at 6939 88th Avenue for 


approval of a Master Conceptual Plan for the construction of a 5,800 square foot synagogue to 


serve as a place of worship and study center along with a parsonage home to be known as the 


Chabad of Kenosha. 


Recommendation: On April 8, 2019, the Plan Commission held a public hearing and 


recommended that the Village Board to approve the Master Conceptual Plan subject to the 


comments and conditions of the April 15, 2019 Village Staff Report. 







2 
DEV1903-002 


 


VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF APRIL 15, 2019 


Consider the request of Mark Eberle, P.E. of Nielsen, Madsen and Barber, agent on behalf of the 


Chabad Lubavitch of Kenosha, Inc. owner of the property located at 6939 88th Avenue for 


approval of a Master Conceptual Plan for the construction of a 5,800 square foot synagogue to 


serve as a place of worship and study center along with a parsonage home to be known as the 


Chabad of Kenosha. 


 


 


On December 18, 2017, the Village Board approved a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. 


#17-69) to amend a portion of the Prairie Lake Neighborhood Plan to include the proposed layout 


of the Chabad of Kenosha Synagogue/Learning Center development on the property.  In 2017, it 


was noted that the Land Use Map and the Zoning Map would need to be amended prior to 


development of the site for a place of worship. 


Chabad of Kenosha’s mission is to serve Jewish persons living in Kenosha and its surrounding 


communities, regardless of their affiliation, level of observance, or background. They will also look 


to be a partner in the broader community by sponsoring community wide public programs, such 


as the Kenosha Menorah, lectures, etc.  Chabad’s programs provide the education to promote 


Jewish knowledge and awareness and the means to practice and experience their Jewish heritage.  


It encourages every positive action on the part of every Jew and hopes to strengthen the Kenosha 


Jewish Community by promoting Jewish pride, study and celebration.   


The synagogue (approximately 5,800 square feet) will include a Social Hall, Library, Classroom, 


Offices, Kosher Kitchen, Mikvah for ritual immersion and will include two guest stay rooms.  The 


synagogue will typically be open to the public from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm with the main 


activities/worship being on Saturday mornings between 10:00 am and 1:30 pm.  Any evening 


classes that would be held on the property would end before 9:00 pm. 


This existing home and detached garage are intended to remain on the property and can be used 


for clergy, caretaker, a place for members to spend the weekend due to religious driving 


restrictions, or as retreat for religious families that need a kosher facility.  Note:  The tradition of 


not driving on the Sabath (between sundown on Friday and sundown on Saturday) is currently 


being observed by about 4 parishioners and the petitioner who resides in walking distance to the 


property.  The house cannot be rented as a single family home, since the I-1, Institutional District 


allows only for specific limited residential uses associated with religious institutions.  If this home 


is intended to be rented for a living unit not affiliated with the Synagogue, then the home shall be 


subdivided from the main property.  Further discussion is warranted.   


In addition, a parsonage home is proposed to be constructed on the site in a subsequent phase to 


the east of the existing residential home and detached garage currently on the site.  This future 


2,400-3,500 square foot parsonage home would be for clergy.  


It is anticipated that there will be 1 full time and 4 part-time employees.  The prayer hall is 


proposed to have regular seating for 50, although on a regular basis, they anticipate that number 


to be lower.  On holidays or special events the facility could accommodate 100 persons. 


Access and Parking:  The land to the north (Outlot 1 of CSM 1928) is owned by the Village 


which has an underground storm sewer that collects storm water from portions of 88th Avenue 


and 68th Street and outlets into the wetlands on this property.  The Village staff supports a 


driveway access connection for the synagogue to 68th Street, however, an easement will need to 


be granted, and detailed engineering would need to be completed for review and approval of this 


connection.   


A Traffic Report was completed by TES, Inc., for the development of this property and the future 


land to the north wherein approximately 14 single family lots could be developed north of 68th 


Street with no connection to the development in the City.  It was determined that a stopped 







3 
DEV1903-002 


 


condition at 68th Street will be sufficient for this use and the development of the vacant nearby 


land.    


The site will provide 25 parking spaces including 2 handicapped accessible parking spaces.  


Additional parking is provided at each of the two housing areas on the site.   


Wetlands and Stormwater:  The interpolated wetland maps indicated that the rear portion of 


the property and the Village land to the north may be wetlands, therefore, a detailed wetland 


delineation was completed in June of 2018 by Thompson and Associates Wetland Services, LLC, 


as WI DNR Assured Biologist as shown on the site plans.  More wetland was found on the site 


than shown on the interpolated wetland maps, as a result approximately 10,000 square feet of 


wetlands is intended to be filled to allow for an access to the site from 68th Street.  Permits from 


the WI DNR and US ACOE are required to be obtained to fill any wetlands.   In addition, an on-


site storm water retention basin will be located on the property south and east of the synagogue 


building outside of the wetlands.  


Public Infrastructure:  The buildings will be required to connect to municipal sewer and water.  


Municipal sewer is available within the existing roadway.  The Village will be extending municipal 


water along 88th Avenue (CTH H) in the near future.  The extension is being completed in part 


due to the WI DOT’s STH 50 roadway reconstruction project which includes work along 88th 


Avenue (CTH H), north and south of STH 50.  The WI DOT is still working on completing the 


design and right-of-way acquisitions for the overall project, including additional right-of-way 


along 88th Avenue (CTH H).  The current schedule for the WI DOT is to complete the design by 


Fall of 2020 and bid the project in Spring of 2021.  The Village’s water main work is planned to 


occur ahead of the WI DOT road reconstruction work; however, the water main work is dependent 


on the WI DOT completing the necessary applicable right-of-way acquisitions for the work to 


occur.  As such, the Village does not have a definitive date for the water extension.  An update as 


to the Village’s planned water main construction schedule will be provided when additional 


information is known regarding the STH 50 project.  Properties fronting the water main extension 


(including this property) will have a special assessment for their associated frontage cost.   


Land Use and Zoning:  This use, a place of worship, is only allowed in the Institutional District 


with further approval of a Conditional Use Permit.  The Conditional Use Permit is usually 


considered at the same time that the required detailed Site and Operational Plans are submitted.  


[Note:  the detailed Site and Operational Plans will include detailed grading and drainage plans, 


detailed landscape plans, detailed building plans and elevations.]   


The Land Use Plan and the Zoning Map will be required to be amended.  The land use map 


amendments would include changing the land use to the Institutional and Governmental 


designation and the field delineated wetlands (excluding the wetlands being filled) into the Park, 


Recreation and Other Open Space with a field delineated wetland land use designations.  The 


property will also need to be rezoned into the I-1, Institutional District and the wetlands rezoned 


into the C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District.  [Note:  If the existing single family home is 


to remain on a separate lot the R-4, Urban Single Family Residential zoning on that lot would not 


change.  As note above further discussion is warranted. 


In addition, the entire site would be located within a PUD, Planned Unit Development Overlay 


District requiring a Zoning Text Amendment as well.  Developing the site as a PUD will allow for 


some flexibility with some dimensional requirements provided that there is a defined community 


benefit.  Based on the Conceptual Plan the following dimensional variations are proposed: 


 To reduce the setback to the wetlands for the parking area to approximately 10 feet from 


the required 25 feet (exact setback needs to be verified upon approval of wetland fill 


permits) 


 To reduce the side setback to the property line to the north that houses the Village’s lift 


station to 15 feet from 25 feet. 







4 
DEV1903-002 


 


In consideration of the dimensional variations the following community benefit will be required 


including:  reduce monument sign (not to exceed 5 feet high); enhance building design with 


greater architectural appeal including brick materials and other details that blends in with the 


residential character of the neighborhood (no flat roof or metal roof); provide additional 


landscaping on the site adjacent to the public roadway and the surrounding residential properties; 


equip main building with a fire sprinkler system; and install and maintain the required Digital 


Security Imaging System (DSIS) pursuant to Chapter 410 of the Village Municipal Code. 


These amendments shall be submitted at the same time that the required Site and Operational 


Plan/Conditional Use Permit application is submitted.  Prior to consideration, wetland fill permits 


shall be obtained from the WI DNR and the US ACOE.  The Land Use Map amendment and the 


Zoning Map amendments will correctly show the wetlands also require another public hearing.   


Recommendation:  Village staff recommends approval of the Master Conceptual Plan 


subject to the above comments and the following conditions: 


1. As development plans continue to progress the following comments and conditions shall be 


addressed. 


a. Subject to the attached comments from the Village Engineering Department dated 


March 27, 2018. 


b. Subject to the attached comments from the Village Fire and Rescue Department 


dated March 28, 2019. 


c. Include a legal description of the wetland proposed to remain on the plans. 


d. Show the setback from the back of curb to the wetland area that will remain.  


Setback is less than 25 feet.  This will need to be included i 


e. All buildings and uses on the synagogue property shall comply with the I-1, 


Institutional District requirements. 


f. Additional landscaping will be required to shield adjacent properties for any 


headlights in the parking lot.  Existing vegetation shall be evaluated and any 


existing vegetation proposed to be removed shall be shown on the plans and 


evaluated prior to removal.  Only dead, dying or decaying vegetation may be 


removed from the wetland area unless other permits are obtained from the WI 


DNR, ACOE and Village. 


g. The location of the required primary monument sign shall be shown.  The Village 


will limit the size and lighting of the sign as part of the PUD.  The primary 


monument sign shall not exceed six (6) feet in height and be setback a minimum of 


15 feet from property lines.  All other requirements for a Primary Monument sign 


pursuant to Chapter 420 Article X will be required. 


h. Show conceptual landscaping including public street tree locations. 


i. Lighting on the site shall meet the Village photometric requirements.  Parking lot 


lights shall be a maximum height of 20 feet and shall be directed downward to 


avoid glaring on public streets and neighboring properties.  However, the parking 


lot lighting shall be illuminated to provide sufficient lighting for the public's safety 


and the effective operation of the security cameras - per the Village's satisfaction. 


All light standards shall be located within landscaped areas and the concrete base 


shall not extend more than 12 inches above grade.  Detailed lighting plans shall be 


provided. 







5 
DEV1903-002 


 


j. More details shall be provided related to the building materials, design and 


materials depicted in the elevations need to be revised to reflect a building that fits 


in with the residential character of the neighborhood.  Standing seam metal roofing 


is not allowed and metal siding panels are also not allowed.  A building 


material/sample board shall be provided for review and approval. 


k. Provide dimensions of the proposed wall sign.  Based on the size of the building the 


wall sign area shall not exceed a total of 150 square feet.  


l. Knox boxes on the outside of the building shall be recessed into the building wall. 


m. All entrances and exits on the synagogue building shall be numbered on the 


exterior and interior beginning at the main entrance and moving clockwise around 


the structure. Numbers should be of a reflective material and must be visible from 


the farthest point of the adjacent parking lot (minimum size of 3 inch attractive 


numbers placed on the same location of each door). 


n. Institutional buildings will be required to install a sanitary sewer sampling manhole 


per the Village specifications.  The location of the sampling manhole and details 


shall be shown. The sampling manhole shall not be located in grass or landscaped 


area but rather in the parking lot- not in a parking space. The Village Public Works 


Department shall approve the location. 


o. All downspouts for the synagogue shall be internal and interconnected to the 


private storm sewer system and cut off and shown on the required Site and 


Operational Plans. 


p. Each handicapped parking space shall be appropriately signed (locations to be 


reviewed with planning staff) and painted on the pavement pursuant to ADA 


requirements prior to occupancy of any development site. 


q. Any exterior mechanical units, antennae and/or satellite dishes, whether roof-


mounted or ground-mounted, shall be screened from the general public's view.  


3. Next Steps and additional approvals (note the applications listed below should be 


submitted at the same time for Village Plan Commission and Village Board 


consideration): 


a. Certified Survey Map: to create the parcel for the single family to remain. Further 


discussion is warranted related to this use and the need for a CSM.  


b. Easement Documents for the driveway access to 68th Street will need to be 


prepared, reviewed approved by the Village. 


c. Wetland fill permits:  A copy of the detailed wetland delineation shall be 


submitted and copies of the WI DNR and US ACOE Permits shall be submitted.  In 


addition, the legal description and survey of the wetland areas shall be submitted.  


d. Land Use Map Amendment and Zoning Map and Text Amendments:  Upon 


obtaining written permits to fill the wetlands applications to amend the Land Use 


Map Amendment and the Zoning Map Amendment shall be submitted.  In addition, 


a Zoning Text Amendment will be required to create the specific Planned Unit 


Development Overlay District Ordinance. 


e. Site and Operational Plans and a Conditional Use Permit: These plans shall 


include site plans, drainage and grading plans, building plans, landscape plans, 


signage plans and all other required plans and documents pursuant to the Site and 


Operational Plan requirement of the Village Zoning Ordinance (Article IX of Chapter 


420 of the Village Municipal Code) and shall be submitted for each individual site 


improvements. 







6 
DEV1903-002 


 


f. A Digital Security Imaging System (DSIS) for the exterior of the site and 


building will be required to be installed for this development in accordance with the 


security requirements of Chapter 410 of the Village Municipal Code.  A DSIS 


Agreement and recorded DSIS Access Easement will be required.  This is 


considered by the Plan Commission at the same time as the Site and Operational 


Plan and Conditional Use Permit. 


4. General comments:   


a. The development shall comply with the ordinances in effect at the time of 


construction including but not limited to the Village Land Division and Development 


Control Ordinance, the Village Municipal and Zoning Codes, the Village Construction 


Site Maintenance and Erosion Control Ordinance and the State of Wisconsin 


Statutes. 


b. City of Kenosha Airport Height approval letter will be required. 


c. Municipal connection fees shall be paid prior to the connections of each building to 


the sanitary sewer system. 


d. Impact fees pursuant to Chapter 181 of the Village Code are required to be paid at 


time of building permit for each development site. 


e. Prior to work commencing on the site, all required permits shall be issued by the 


Village, all required erosion control measures shall be in place on the site and a 


pre-construction conference shall be held at the Village Offices.   


f. The Village shall approve of the location of any construction trailers parked on the 


site during construction activities.  No construction trailers shall be parked in any 


rights-of-way.   


g. No site within the development shall be used for any parking (neither overnight nor 


during the day) of junked/inoperable/dismantled/unlicensed vehicles.  All 


junked/inoperable/ dismantled/unlicensed vehicles that are parked overnight will be 


issued citations. 


h. At no time shall any site within the development be used to sell or advertise any 


vehicles that are “for sale”. 


i. No vehicular parking will be permitted in driveways, maneuvering lanes, fire lanes 


or on landscaped areas within the synagogue property. 


j. There shall be no semi-truck/trailer, delivery trucks or commercial box truck or 


commercial van parking permitted on the site within the Development, except 


temporarily, for routine deliveries. 


k. No trucks, trailers or cars shall be parked in a manner that would constitute 


advertising for the business on the properties. 


l. Real Estate Marketing Signs and/or Temporary Development Signs are permitted 


only by permit pursuant to the requirements of Article X of Chapter 420.  


m. There shall be no outside banners, strings of pennants, signs placed in the ground, 


flag pennants, flags, inflatable devices or streamers affixed or attached to the 


building(s), fencing, light poles, ground or landscaping, etc. within the 


Development.  Special event and grand opening signs are permitted by Ordinance 


with permit. 


n. There shall be no outdoor storage or display of materials or equipment on any site 


unless as approved by the Village. 







7 
DEV1903-002 


 


o. The use of semi-trailers, storage units, storage bins, roll-off storage devices (e.g. 


P.O.D.S., S.A.M.S.) or other trucks, for storage purposes is prohibited.  Outdoor 


storage of any materials, including but not limited to: raw materials, business 


supplies, pallets, crates, etc., is prohibited. 


p. No use shall be conducted in such a way as to constitute a public or private 


nuisance or to violate any of the performance standards set out in Section 420-38 


of the Village Zoning Ordinance. 


q. All buildings, structures, site improvements and sites shall be maintained in a safe, 


structurally sound, neat, well-cared-for and attractive condition. 


r. The property owner shall comply with all provisions of the Conditional Use Permit 


and Site & Operational Plan submittal, including compliance with the Village 


Performance Standards and all Municipal Code ordinances and regulations. 


s. All Village fees incurred by the Community Development Department, Village 


Engineer, Village Inspectors and/or expert Assistants/Consultants/Attorneys 


required by the Village throughout the development process will be billed directly to 


the Developer.  Such fees shall be paid in a timely manner.  







  
 


9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   PleasantPrairieOnline.com 


 


Office of the Village Engineer 
Matthew J. Fineour, P.E.     MEMORANDUM 


 TO:    Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner / Zoning Administrator 
 
FROM:  Matthew Fineour, P.E.,Village Engineer 
 
  SUBJ:  Chabad of Kenosha – Conceptual Plan 
    
 DATE:  March 27, 2019 
 


 
Peggy, 
 
The Engineering Department has reviewed the submitted concept plan for the proposed 
development. We have the following comments listed below and noted on the attached mark-up 
plan. Refer to both this memo and mark-up plan sheets for all engineering comments.  
 
The engineering plan review was cursory to identify overall conceptual concepts.  Additional review 
comments will be provided as further detailed engineering plans are submitted. 
 
See comments on attached mark-up plan sheets.   


 
1. Only plan sheets with comments are included. 


 
2. Comments that apply to multiple locations are not repeated for every occurrence. 


 
Other / Miscellaneous 
 


3. The following comments pertain to municipal water service: 
 


a. The Village will be extending municipal water along CTH “H” in the near future.  The 
extension is being completed in part due to the WDOT’s STH 50 reconstruction 
project which includes work along CTH “H”, north and south of STH 50.  The DOT is 
still working on completing the design and right-of-way acquisitions for the overall 
project, including additional right-of-way along CTH “H”.   The current schedule for 
the DOT is to complete the design by Fall of 2020 and bid the project in Spring of 
2021.  The Village’s water main work is planned to occur ahead of the DOT road 
reconstruction, however, the water main work is dependent on the DOT completing 
the necessary applicable right-of-way acquisitions for the work to occur, at which 
time we do not have a definitive date.  An update as to the Village’s planned water 
main construction schedule will be provided when additional information is known 
regarding the STH 50 project. 
 


b. Properties fronting the water main extension (including the subject parcel) will be 
special assessed for their associated frontage cost.  The property owner will need to 
execute a waiver of special assessment for the proposed water main extension. A 
preliminary cost estimate of the special assessment will be provided upon the 
Village’s design being completed. 
 







P a g e  | 2 
Memo – Chabad of Kenosha 
March 27, 2019 
 


9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.948.8951    Fax 262.925.6796   


PleasantPrairieOnline.com 


 


c. The existing residence located on the property will need to hooked-up to the 
proposed municipal water main extension as part of the project.  


 
4. Detailed civil engineering plans will need to be provided for review and approval including: 


 
 Grading / Drainage / Erosion Control plans 
 Site utility plans 
 Site lighting plan 
 Site landscaping plan 
 Storm water management report 
 Culvert and storm sewer sizing calculations 


 
The engineering plans have been reviewed for conformance with generally accepted engineering 
practices and Village policies.  Although the data has been reviewed, the design engineer is 
responsible for the thoroughness and accuracy of plans and supplemental data and for their 
compliance with all state and local codes, ordinances, and procedures.  Modifications to the plans, 
etc. may be required should errors or changed conditions be found at a future date and as additional 
information is provided. 
 
Attachment:   Plan Mark Up 
           VOPP water main extension reference maps 
  







88
th


 A
VE


N
U


E 
 - 


 C
.T


.H
. "


H"
W


ID
TH


 V
AR


IE
S


68th STREET


DA
TE


RE
VI


SI
O


N
BY


N
O


.


11 OF


SHEET


PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:


60'


SCALE 1"=30'


30' 0' 30' 60'


MDE
JJC


3-4-2019
MDE


3-4-2018


2017.0192.01


CI
VI


L 
 E


N
GI


N
EE


RS
  A


N
D 


 L
AN


D 
 S


U
RV


EY
O


RS


BN
AI


 Z
ED


EK
CH


AB
AD


 O
F 


KE
N


O
SH


A
 C


O
N


CE
PT


U
AL


 P
LA


N
FO


R
CH


AB
AD


 O
F 


KE
N


O
SH


A
VI


LL
AG


E 
O


F 
PL


EA
SA


N
T 


PR
AI


RI
E,


 K
EN


O
SH


A 
CO


U
N


TY
, W


IS
CO


N
SI


N


14
58


 H
or


izo
n 


Bl
vd


. S
ui


te
 2


00
, R


ac
in


e,
 W


I. 
53


40
6


Te
le


: (
26


2)
63


4-
55


88
  W


eb
sit


e:
 w


w
w


.n
m


bs
c.


ne
t


PROPOSED
SYNAGOGUE


5,786 S.F.


FUTURE
2-STORY


RESIDENCE


WET
RETENTION


BASIN


WETLANDS


SITE PLAN LEGEND


SITE DATA


PROPOSED WATER MAIN EXTENSION
(VILLAGE SPONSORED PROJECT)


91-4-122-043-0034
ROBERT C KOZLOWSKI


91-4-122-043-0048
JAMES W WATTS


91-4-122-043-0115
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE


91-4-122-043-0220
NORMAN CLAUSEN


AVAILABLE
EXPANSION


AREA
1,130 S.F.


PROPOSED WETLAND FILL
9,999 S.F.


PROPOSED WATER MAIN EXTENSION
(VILLAGE SPONSORED PROJECT)


6" SANITARY LATERAL


6" PRIVATE
WATER MAIN


PROPOSED
11


2" WATER SERVICE


FUTURE 4" SANITARY
LATERAL


4" WATER SERVICE FDC CHECK VALVE


4" FDC LEAD


PLEASANT PRAIRIE
LIFT STATION


PROPOSED 50'-WIDE
ACCESS EASEMENT


PROPOSED PAVEMENT
FOR EMERGENCY ACCESS


VOPP ENG REVIEW
PLAN MARK UP
MARCH 27, 2019


PICK UP / SHOW
EXISTING STORM
SEWERS


PICK UP / SHOW
EXISTING FORCE
MAINS


MISSING
LATERAL


WDNR / ACOE
APPROVALS FOR
WETLAND FILL WILL
NEED TO BE OBTAIND
AND PROVIDED


IS THIS THE ACTUAL
PROPERTY LINE?  DISCUSS
ROW NEEDS WITH KENOSHA
COUNTY AND DEDICATE
ADDITIONAL ROW AS
DETERMINED


CONCEPTUAL WATER MAIN
EXTENSION BY VOPP
(DESIGNED BY OTHERS)


COORDINATE WITH DPW
REGARDING SAMPLING
MH / MH LOCATION. 
LATERAL LOCATION
MAY NEED TO CHANGE
TO LOCATE MANHOLE
IN A PAVED /
ACCESSIBLE LOCATION


VILLAGE NOT INSTALLING
WM ALONG 68TH; WILL
PROVIDE STUB


EAST CURB RETURN TO
BE COMPLETED BY
CHABAD WHEN 68TH ST
IS EXTENDED







STH 50/


75TH AVENUE


I
-
9
4


1
0
4
T


H
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


9
4


T
H


 
A


V
E


N
U


E


C
T


H
 
H


/


8
8
T


H
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


P


R


A


I
R


I
E


 
R


I
D


G


E


 
B


L


V


D


U
N


I
O


N
 
P


A
C


I
F


I
C


 
R


A
I
L
R


O
A


D


C
A


N
A


D
I
A


N
 
P


A
C


I
F


I
C


 
R


A
I
L
R


O
A


D


7
0
T


H
 S


T
R


E
E


T


1
0


9
T


H
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


1
0
5
T


H
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


9
9


T
H


 
A


V
E


N
U


E


76TH STREET


9
1
S


T
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


77TH STREET


74TH S
TREET


WORK AREAS


STH 50/


75TH AVENUE


C
T


H
 
H


/


8
8
T


H
 
A


V
E


N
U


E


7
0


T
H


 
A


V
E


N
U


E


68TH


STREET


67TH STREET


S
T


H
 
5
0
 
U


T
I
L


I
T


Y
 
I
M


P
R


O
V


E
M


E
N


T
S


V
I
L


L
A


G
E


 
O


F
 
P


L
E


A
S


A
N


T
 
P


R
A


I
R


I
E


C
O


V
E


R
 
S


H
E


E
T


 


SHEET NUMBER 


B
r
o
o


k
f
i
e
l
d


,
 
W


I
 
 
|
 
 
A


p
p
l
e


t
o


n
,
 
W


I
 
 
|
 
 
M


a
d
i
s
o
n


,
 
W


I
 
 
|
 
 
C


e
d


a
r
b
u
r
g
,
 
W


I
 
 
|
 
 
M


o
u
n


t
 
P


l
e
a


s
a
n


t
,
 
W


I


N
a
p


e
r
v
i
l
l
e
,
 
I
L


 
 
|
 
 
P


i
t
t
s
b
u
r
g
h
,
 
P


A
 
 
|
 
 
I
r
v
i
n
e
,
 
C


A


N


Know what's below.
before you dig.Call


R


H
:\
1
1
8
1
7
0
1
\
D
w
g
\
P
la
n
s\
1
1
8
1
7
0
1
C
S
0
1
.d
w
g
, 
C
o
ve
r 
S
h
e
e
t,
 
3
/
4
/
2
0
1
9
 
1
1
:0
3
:0
8
 
A
M
, 
p
ta


SECTION 1
SECTION 2


SECTION 4


SECTION 3







?


?


?


?


?


? ?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


? ?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?


?
?


?


?


?


? ?


?


?


?


?


?


?
?


?


?


?


?


?


? ?


?


I1 inch = 300 feet


0 600300 Feet


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


W
M


WATER MAIN RELAY
SECTION BY VOPP


NEW WATER MAIN
EXTENTION BY VOPP


WDOT STH 50 PROJECT -
CTH H WORK COORIDOR


WM WM


CURRENT DOT DESIGN
SCHEDULE:  FINAL PSE FALL 2020


WITH SPRING 2021 LET


VOPP SECTION 3 WATER MAIN UTILITY
RELOCATION WORK OVERVIEW
ASSOCIATED WITH THE STH 50
RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT


VOPP AWAITING LAND DOT ROW / TLE
ACQUISTIONS TO BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO


SCHEDULING CTH H WATER MAIN WORK







 


 


8044 88th Avenue  Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-2015  Phone 262.694.8027  Fax 262.697.1901  pleasantprairiewi.gov 


 


Office of the Chief of Fire & Rescue  
Craig Roepke  


 
 
 
 


VILLAGE STAFF MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director 


FROM:  Craig Roepke, Chief Fire & Rescue 


CC:  Peggy Herrick, Assistant Planner, Community Development 


SUBJECT: Fire Department review of Conceptual Plans the Kenosha Jewish Center 


Permit/Trakit#: DEV1903-002 


DATE:  March 28, 2019 


 


These are Comments/Reviews for the conceptual Plans for the proposed Kenosha Jewish Center. 


The Fire and Rescue Department will be responsible for providing fire prevention inspections of this facility, twice 
annually. Based on the information and plans submitted, the Fire & Rescue Department have the following 
comments regarding the project: 


 


1. An AED shall be required for this project. 


2. The building shall provide for an automatic fire sprinkler system and an fire alarm detection/notification 
system. 


3. The building shall not require standpipe/hose valves. 


4. Review numbered comments below for this project. 


5. Make note of Severe Shelter Designation – item #17 


6. Provided drawing depicts a stairwell that appears to go to a second level and also appears to be 
illustrated in the 3D modeling, please clarify and provide detail. 


7. Drawing does not identity mechanical or riser room. Civil drawings required as outlined in the 
Engineering review memo. 


8. Discuss visual methods to provide discreet door numbering as outlined in item # 18 & 19. 


9. Discuss Emergency operation planning in partnership with the police department. 


10. Discuss the future residential building and the installation of a NFPA 13D residential sprinkler system. 


11. At least one recessed Knox Box shall be required at the main entrance. Once more details are known, a 
second Box may be required at the riser door entrance. 


 
Distribution of Comments: the person who obtains the building permit to all contractors and subcontractors affected by 
this document shall distribute copies of these comments. This document outlines critical times and deadlines. All recipients 
of this document must become familiar with the contents. 


AHJ: The Authority Having Jurisdiction is the Village of Pleasant Prairie Fire & Rescue Department. 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 2 | 9 


 


Planned Unit Development: Should this project fall under a zoning PUD agreement or other negotiated provisions 
by the Village of Pleasant Prairie, these comments and requirements may supersede and be more stringent than 
other State or building related rules or code sets. 


Verbal Discussion: Any verbal discussions regarding variations to the comments within this document shall be 
confirmed in writing by both the AHJ and the responsible agent. Failure to secure written confirmation shall nullify 
any verbal variance. 


Conflicts: In the event a conflict in code(s) is identified, or a conflict with the insurance carrier criteria occurs, the 
more stringent shall apply.  In the event this conflicts with any codes adopted by the State of Wisconsin, the owner 
must petition the State directly for a variance.  The Owner must demonstrate that they will provide materials or 
design equivalent to the code or that they will exceed the code when petitioning the State of Wisconsin and/or the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie where applicable. 


Fire Safety System Plans:  such as fire sprinkler and fire alarm plans, will need to be submitted to the State of 
Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services and also to this fire department for review. No 
installation of any fire protection system is allowed until a satisfactory review is obtained from both departments.  


FIRE ALARM AND SPRINKLER PLANS ARE A SEPARATE SUBMITTAL TO THE FIRE DEPARTMENT. 
DUE TO CONSTRUCTION AND TIME CONSTAINTS FIRE PROTECTION SUBMITTALS MAY AND ARE TYPICALLY 


BROKEN INTO AN UNDERGROUND SUBMITTAL AND AN ABOVE GROUND SUBMITTAL. 


Pre-Construction Meeting:  A pre-construction meeting may take place with the general contractor, the fire 
protection contractor, the Fire and Rescue Department, Village staff, and any other sub-contractor prior to the 
start of any project construction. 


 


1. Contact Information: For questions on the information and comments included within this document please 
use the following information: 


Pleasant Prairie Fire & Rescue Department 
   8044-88th Avenue 
   Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
   262.694.8027 
   firerescue@pleasantprairiewi.gov 
   Attn: Laurie Waldenstrom 


   Website: https://pleasantprairiewi.gov/departments/fire_rescue 


2. Site Access: 
a. Access shall be provided around the perimeter of the site for Fire Department apparatus, and must 


comply with the State of Wisconsin and the International Building Code, 2015 edition.  


b. A minimum wall-to-wall turning radius of 45’-0” shall be allowed for apparatus movement.   


c. All entrances from public streets, as well as road and driveways around the proposed building shall be a 
minimum of 30 feet wide. 


d. All roadways and fire lanes shall be unobstructed and not used any part as a parking area for automobiles, 
semi-trucks or trailers. Fire lanes shall comprise of a hard and maintainable surface throughout all seasons. 


e. All exterior exit pathways as well as access to the Fire Pump or riser room shall have a hard surface, leading 
to a hard surface. This includes all exit doors from the facility. These pathways shall be maintained and 
accessible at all times. 


f. An exterior personnel door shall be located in close proximity to each fire sprinkler riser. 


g. There shall be Knox padlocks, Knox key switches, or other AHJ approved devices on all gates on site.  
The Fire & Rescue Department will review the proper placement and operation of the Knox system 
locks & Boxes. 


3. Gates / Barriers:  


a. Any gates or barriers that are employed or installed on a private roadway or access shall have a 



mailto:firerescue@pleasantprairiewi.gov

https://pleasantprairiewi.gov/departments/fire_rescue





Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 3 | 9 


 


minimum width clearance of sixteen (16) feet. Builder/developer to identify any other gate widths 
and obtain written AHJ variance approval. 


b. Gates or barriers that are locked must have the ability for the AHJ to remove, unlock or disable either 
manually or automatically the securing mechanism to open or raise the gate or barrier. 
Builder/developer to identify methodology of such mechanisms. 


c. Any barrier or gate that raises vertically at a pivot point to allow for passage must provide for at least 
90 degrees of clearance from the ground to the bottom of the gate or barrier.  


d. Gates or barriers that raise vertically shall have a minimum vertical clearance of 13’6”.  


e. There shall be a manufacture endorsed mechanism or process to secure the gate or barrier in the 
open position without utilizing personnel or ad-hoc methods to maintain an open condition.  


f. The gate or barrier access on premise shall be readily identifiable and in contrast to fencing by the 
AHJ. 


4. Combination Water Sizing Confirmation: The owner shall provide a letter from the sprinkler designer affirming that 
the combination water main is sized appropriately for both domestic use and fire sprinkler protection demand. This 
will typically include the designer’s license stamp on the document. 


5. Compliance: A letter shall be submitted to the Fire & Rescue Department prior to receiving a building permit, stating 
that the project will comply with all requirements addressed within this document. This document shall be received 
prior to holding any pre-construction meeting. 


6. Required Licenses:  A Wisconsin licensed fire protection contractor and/or sprinkler fitter must install any and all 
dedicated fire protection underground fire mains and aboveground fire protection as defined in WI SPS 305 
subchapter V 


7. Insurance Carrier: The Owner of this project shall submit to the insurance carrier for review the plans for both 
underground water distribution and fire protection prior to construction. The Fire & Rescue Department shall receive 
a copy of the comments when plans are submitted for review. 


8. Review and Comments: the Fire Department will review and comment on the following areas outlined below. 


 A. Site and Operational Permits 


1. Site accessibility (Plans provided do not specific clearances or distances) 


2. Fire Pump Location  


3. Pumper Pad  


4. Fire hydrant spacing 


 B. Conditional Use and Operational  
1. Standpipe outlet locations . 
2. Fire alarm pull stations  
3. Emergency and Exit Lighting  
4. Fire extinguishers 


9. Plan Review, Permits and Fees 


a. The plans for the fire protection underground, aboveground and fire alarm system shall be submitted 
to the AHJ for review; 


b. It is common and typically recommended that the protection underground and aboveground 
(Sprinklers) are split into separate reviews in the interest of time and construction. 


c. The Village will use an independent fire safety consultant for review of all fire protection plans 
submitted. 


i. Standard review periods are 21 business days 


ii. Expedited reviews at 10 business days are available for an extra cost. 


iii. Plan review times begin the day after the plans are received by the reviewer. 


d. Contacting the third-party reviewer directly for submission is not allowed. Subsequent design 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 4 | 9 


 


questions and clarification dialogue is allowed. 


e. An approved & stamped AHJ review must be completed before any permits will be issued and before 
construction may begin. 


f. A submittal is not considered permitted or an approved plan. 


g. Acquiring WI State approved plans is not an alternative to bypass the AHJ permitting process. 


h. A Building Department Low voltage permit must also be secured by the fire alarm installer. 


i. Applications & assistance can be found  


10. Permit fees: must be paid at time of submission for review. Work cannot begin until all permits have been issued. A 
typical review turnaround is four weeks 


The following fees and permits are generated directly from the Fire & Rescue Department. 


a. Bulk water Usage 
b. Fire Protection Plans for Underground and Aboveground 
c. Fire Alarm System Plans 
d. Kitchen Hood Systems Plans 
NOTE: Permits are required from the Fire & Rescue Department for the installation of water main in addition to any 
permits required by other Village of Pleasant Prairie Departments. 


11. Occupancy: 


a. All fire and life safety requirements must be in place and operational prior to any building being occupied. 


b. No occupancy inspections shall be scheduled until all life-safety systems are complete. 


c. Key life safety systems include: Fire sprinkler system, Fire alarm system, Fire extinguishers, Emergency 
Lighting, and any additional requirements determined by both the Fire Department and the Village Building 
inspection department. 


d. AEDs as required are in place. 


e. Building access keys and related interior access methods must be in place. 


12. Hazardous Occupancies: Should there be identified hazard occupancies with this project, the Fire & Rescue 
Department will need more than the typical four week time period to review potential Hazardous 
Occupancies. The owner must contact the Fire & Rescue Department as soon as possible to begin the review 
process. 


13. Exterior Doors: All outside doors must have access to the interior. Such as a lock and handle provided at each door.  


14. AED: The owner may be required to acquire and install one or more public access Automatic External 
Defibrillator (AED) onsite for employee and public use in the event of a sudden cardiac arrest. It is suggested 
that during the construction phase that a location(s) be identified so that options for recessed cabinets may be 
determined. 


15. Storage:  Maximum height, width and aisle ways and egress pathways must be maintained and will be 
enforced.  The same concerns apply to the storage of quantities of combustibles (plastics and cardboard) and 
other storage of flammable liquids or chemicals must also be properly identified, placarded and stored. 


16. Elevators:  


a. If applicable, must comply with Village of Pleasant Prairie Ordinance 180-20, including acceptable 
minimum size and emergency notification. 


b. Review the proper sizing requirements with the fire department early in the planning process. 


c. Elevator emergency phone notification shall dial the Pleasant Prairie Dispatch emergency number or 
262.694.1402  


d. Provide copy of State inspection approval to use documents to AHJ. 


e. In addition to the required “Drop-key” in the elevator key box, provide two additional “drop-keys” 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 5 | 9 


 


appropriate for the elevator manufacturer type to be delivered to the AHJ as part of the access key 
requirement. 


f. Ensure that additional elevator “Barrel” keys are available for Knox Box placement for use in 
accessing the required elevator wall mounted key box as reference in WI SPS 318.1708(10)(b) 


17. Severe Weather Shelter: The architect shall identify the area within the building that can be used as a “severe 
weather shelter” or “safe haven” during severe weather such as a tornado. That area will be identified with 
signage. 


18. Door Numbering: Each exterior door shall be sequentially numbered. 


a. Shall consist of a 4” reflective number in a color that is contrasting to the door color. 


b. Numbering shall be in an increasing sequence and located in the upper right-hand portion of the 
door. 


c. The starting numbering point shall be determined in the field and approved by the AHJ. 


d. Door numbering shall also be identified in some manner on the interior. 


19. Door numbering – Internal: in multi-unit dwelling buildings a numbering scheme shall be devised so that 
locations of a room are intuitively expected. Each room shall have a unique number assignment. 


20. On Premise Secure Key System:  Knox Company Rapid Entry System, “Knox Boxes” shall be provided for the 
building. The Knox Boxes shall be Model 4400. Two sets of all keys (Master, fire alarm pull station, 
annunciator, elevator, etc.) shall be placed within the box, as well as a copy of the pre-fire plan.   


21. Fire Extinguishers:  Shall meet NFPA 10 (Portable Fire Extinguishers) for the specific use of the building and be 
in sufficient number.  Final approval, of fire extinguisher locations and quantity, will not be given until 
occupancy is taken, to see how a tenant furnishes the space.  The company providing the fire extinguishers 
shall submit a letter to the Fire and Rescue Department stating the locations and size of the extinguishers are 
in compliance with NFPA 10. 


22. Emergency and Exit Lighting:  Exit and Emergency Lighting shall be provided and shall have battery backup. 
Combination units are acceptable and recommended.  An Emergency Generator eliminates the need for 
battery backup.  These circuits shall be clearly labeled.  


23. Sprinkler System: 


a. The building shall be equipped with an “automatic fire sprinkler system”.  The systems shall be 
designed and constructed to the current printed edition of NFPA 13, Automatic Fire Sprinklers and the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie Ordinance 180-16, Automatic Fire Sprinklers. Confirm NFPA edition with the 
Fire Department prior to system design. 


b. Risers shall be durably labeled with the system or riser identification. 


c. Outside/exterior Riser Control Valves: Where installed, outside control valves shall be durably labeled 
with the associated system or riser that it controls. Any outside valves such as PIVs or OS&Y valves 
shall be locked with chain and/or commercially breakable locks. 


d. Hydrant flow test values for sprinkler design purposes shall be no older than one year from the above 
ground fire submittal date. 


e. An “as-is” drawing of the fire sprinkler system shall be provided and posted in the riser or pump room 
of the building. The size of the drawing shall be at least 22”x34” (ANSI D) in size and no larger than 
34”x44” (ANSI E). In multi-floor projects, each floor shall be a separate page. The maps shall either be 
mounted on a wall within the pump/riser room or reliably hung and removable from the wall. Maps 
shall be laminated. An electronic copy shall also be provided to the AHJ. 
 


24. The following information as applicable, must be submitted with the sprinkler plans for review: 


 


Building height Number of stories/floors Mezzanines Elevators 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 6 | 9 


 


Hazard class Commodity Class Exterior storage Fire protection 


 
25. Fire Hydrants:  Fire hydrants shall meet the Village of Pleasant Prairie hydrant specification.  Fire hydrants 


shall be spaced no more than 350 feet apart around the perimeter of the building, per Village Ordinance §180-
16.  As many hydrants as possible shall be supplied directly by municipal water.  The distance from the finished 
grade line to the lowest discharge shall be no less than 18 inches and no more than 23 inches. 


26. Fire Hydrant Acceptance: This project will include the installation of water mains for domestic and fire 
protection use. Prior to the fire sprinkler system connection to any new water mains (including water mains, 
fire hydrants, laterals leading to the building and risers) must be hydrostatically tested flushed according to 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) code standard 24 and witnessed by the Fire Chief or designee.  


27. Fire hydrant / water main flushing: can be disruptive to the job site and requires significant coordination of all 
sub-contractors by the General Contractor. Nonetheless flushing is an essential part of assuring public safety.  
The General Contractor is highly encouraged to coordinate the flushing of all new water mains, fire hydrants, 
laterals leading to the building and risers with both the sub-contractors responsible, the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie Engineering Department, Fire & Rescue Department and the Water Utility Department, prior to seeking 
a ‘clean water sample’ on this site.  


28. Pumper Pad:   


a. A municipally fed fire hydrant and fire department connection (FDC) combination is defined to be a 
“pumper pad”. 


b. The FDC shall comprise of a 30 degree angled 5” Storz connection unless otherwise approved by the 
fire department in writing. 


c. Both the hydrant and FDC shall between 18” and 23” above finished grade as a pair. 


d. There shall be dedicated space for a fire engine to have unobstructed access to the pumper pad. 


e. Wall mounted FDCs may be an option dependent on project details. AHJ written approval required. 


f. Both the Fire Department Sprinkler connection and the fire hydrant shall be installed remote from 
the building and located a minimum distance from the building equal to the highest wall. Any 
variances shall be approved by the AHJ in writing. 


g. The pumper pad shall be free of vegetation, plant, shrubs, or other obstructions at least 5 feet on 
each side. 


h. The fire hydrant shall be located no more than five (5) feet from the roadway and the Fire 
Department sprinkler connection shall be placed no more than five (5) feet from the fire hydrant. 


i. The Fire Department connection shall be constructed along with an underground drain with access 
for inspection. In cases where there is an accessible basement, the FDC drip/valve assembly may be 
located inside the basement. Should this situation present itself, written AHJ approval shall be 
required to utilize this arrangement. 


j. The area around the pumper pad shall be comprised of a hard surface such as asphalt or concrete. 


k. The pumper pad area shall have some form of posted signage or painted pavement designation 
indicating no parking or obstructions in that area. 


l. Refer to the Village specification drawing for the pumper pad design. 


29. Bollards:   


a. Shall be placed near fire hydrants, remote post indicator valves (PIV) and Fire Department 
connection(s) that are subject to damage. 


b. Bollards shall be six (6) inches in diameter. Bollards shall not obstruct charged fire hoses. 


c. It is recommended that the Fire Department approve the location of the bollard(s) before final 
placement is made.  


30. Standpipes: 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 7 | 9 


 


a. Where required, standpipes/hose valves shall be wet and placed adjacent to all exterior exit doors, 
same side as the door handle/knob. Village Ordinance 180.16 (I). 


b. The building protection system shall be equipped with standpipes that shall consist of 2-½ inch NST 
valve, capable of delivering 250 GPM, at 75 PSI measured at the standpipe valve.   


c. No 1-1/2” cap reductions are required. 


31. Pump Room / Riser Room Door:  


a. The exterior door that accesses either the fire pump or riser room shall be labeled in the following 
manner outlined below 


i. At the center upper 1/3 of the door, utilizing 4” reflective RED or WHITE block lettering 
contrasting to the door color, with the following title. 


ii. “FIRE PUMP ROOM” or “FIRE RISER ROOM”, respective for the type of existing room. 


b. This door shall have a Knox-Box installed adjacent to the door. The specific location heights and 
details are documented in the “Fire Department – Appendix A” attachment. 


32. MSDS / SDS Station:  


a. Within the pump or riser room locate a (SDS) Safety Data Sheet Station in a conspicuous and 
accessible location. The station shall be labelled so to be readily identified. 


b. Products used for maintenance, production or stored within the facility shall have their SDS 
information located at this SDS station. 


c. The SDS information shall be organized in such manner that access to product information is intuitive. 


d. The contents of the SDS station shall be updated and/or reviewed at least annually by the building 
owner or active tenant. A dated record log shall be kept with the SDS station indicating such review. 


33. Strobe Light: 


a. All strobe lights required below shall meet Village specifications as found in section 180-16(m) of the 
Sprinkler Ordinance.  The lens color shall be RED. 


b. A strobe light and 10” dome bell shall be provided, visible from the pumper pad to indicate a 
waterflow alarm condition. 


c. If the building has a fire pump, an additional strobe light shall be required and installed adjacent to 
the waterflow alarm and activated when the fire pump is running. 


d. Both notification devices above (b & c) shall be labeled appropriately as “WATERFLOW” and “PUMP 
RUN” below the respective devices. In instances where only one strobe is required, no signage is 
required. 


e. A strobe light shall be provided and installed vertically at each riser location on the exterior of the 
building. No bell or signage is required. In instances where two or more risers are located at one 
location, only one exterior strobe is required. The strobe shall activate on any one riser waterflow. 


f. The heights of all strobe lights shall be sufficient to seen above standard semi-trailer heights. 


g. Specific locations and layout typically are discussed with the AHJ and it is understood that various 
building finishes may impact exact locations. 


h. A separate “Appendix A” document is available to provide visual detail supporting the above 
requirements. 


34. Fire Alarm System:  There shall be a full function remote annunciator installed.  Utilizing a fire pull station, 
sprinkler water flow, or any other fire detection device that maybe installed in this building shall activate the 
internal fire alarm system. The systems shall be designed and constructed to the current printed edition of 
NFPA 72. Confirm NFPA edition with the Fire Department prior to system design 


a. Installation: Installation of the Fire Alarm System shall be in accordance with NFPA 70 – The National 
Electrical Code and applicable local building codes and practices. 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 8 | 9 


 


b. Manual Fire Alarm Pull Stations:  Shall be located at a minimum, immediately adjacent to each 
exterior door. Any additional exterior doors will be required to meet this requirement. The pull 
station shall not be placed in the area of the door, but immediately adjacent to the door jamb. 


c. Pull Stations and Audiovisual Alarms:  Shall be installed per ADA requirements. 


d. Smoke and Heat Detection:  Shall be installed as required. 


e. Tamper Switches:  Tamper switches shall be placed on all sprinkler valves and be identified on the 
annunciator panel. 


f. PIV & Exterior Valves: Shall be monitored by the Fire Alarm system. 


g. Strobe & Bell: Strobe light and Bell devices shall be identified and documented on the submitted Fire 
Alarm plan submittal. It is understood that typically this work is completed by the electrical 
contractor and not part of the alarm plan per say.  


h. Duct Detectors: Duct detectors shall be programmed as a Supervisory Alarm, not as an alarm 
condition unless pre-approved by the AHJ. 


i. Fire Alarm Plans Location:  There shall be a designated location for a set of as-built fire alarm plans 
near the FACP per NFPA 72.   


j. FACP Nomenclature: Confirmation of nomenclature shall be discussed between the Fire Department 
and the fire alarm program technician prior to any inspections. 


k. Initiating Devices Labeling: All initiating devices e.g.: pull stations, smoke detectors, tampers, etc 
shall be labeled with the FA device number that matches the system nomenclature programmed. The 
font/letters shall be at least 14pt and of such size that they are visible based on accessibility to the 
device. (e.g.: ceiling initiating devices may require a larger font size) 


l. Annunciator Panel:  Shall be addressable.  The annunciator panel type shall be approved by the AHJ. 
The panel shall identify a fire sprinkler water flow by riser, and the specific locations of the fire alarm 
pull stations and any other fire detection devices that may be installed in this building. 


m. Transmission of Fire Alarms.  The method of transmission to central station shall be documented 
within the submittal and approved by the AHJ.  (e.g. RF Radio/Mesh network, cellular, VOIP, MFVN, 
or other approved technologies allowed by code.) 


n. FACP Main Panel: There will be one main fire alarm panel within a building. The system will not be 
split into two or multiple fire alarm panels interconnected together. (Example: West wing is one 
panel, East wing is a different panel) 


o. FACP Location: The main fire alarm panel shall be located in the fire pump or riser room. Any other 
location shall be identified in advance and in writing. The AHJ shall review and any deviation must be 
conveyed in writing by the AHJ prior to any submitted plans or construction. 


p. Fire Alarm Map: An “as-is” drawing of the fire alarm system shall be provided and posted in the riser 
or pump room of the building. The drawing shall have at minimum, the initiating device numbers, 
locations, and door numbering scheme on the posted drawing. The size of the drawing shall be at 
least 22”x34” (ANSI D) in size and no larger than 34”x44” (ANSI E). In multi-floor projects, each floor 
shall be a separate page. The maps shall either be mounted on a wall within the pump/riser room or 
reliably hung and removable off the wall. Maps shall be laminated. An electronic copy shall also be 
provided to the AHJ. 


q. Central Station:  The Fire Alarm Control Panel shall transmit all fire alarm, tamper, trouble and 
supervisory signals to a central station that is certified by Underwriters Laboratories (UL) and/or 
Factory Mutual (FM) and approved by the Fire & Rescue Department. The owner shall provide such 
documentation for approval. 


Fire:   Pleasant Prairie Fire & Rescue 
Medical:   Pleasant Prairie Fire & Rescue 
Phone numbers 
Emergency:   (262) 694-1402 







Review of Conceptual plans for Kenosha Jewish Center 


Page 9 | 9 


 


Non-emergency:  (262) 694-7105 
Business:  (262) 694-8027 


 


35. All Hazards Notification System:  Should the owner or tenant plan on the installation of an in-building all hazards 
notification system (fire, weather, active threat, etc), the fire department shall be made aware and the system shall 
meet all NFPA 72 requirements. 


 


36. Final Inspection:  The General Contractor shall be responsible to provide or confirm from the MEPs that the 
following system related documents have been delivered to the AHJ throughout the project and before a final 
occupancy scheduled:  


a. 100% Completion Letters – Shall be delivered on company letterhead and stamped as applicable. Letters 
shall include at minimum, the project name, address, and scope of work description, along with an 
authorized signatory of the organization. 


a. The fire protection contractor shall provide the AHJ with a letter (upon completion of the 
sprinkler work) stating the sprinkler and protection systems, or portion thereof, are “100% 
operational and built according to the AHJ stamped plan design”, Village Ordinance, 180-16 N if 
modifications are made to the system, as-built plans shall be provided. 


b. The fire alarm contractor shall also provide the AHJ with a letter (upon completion of the fire 
alarm work) stating the fire alarm system, or portion thereof, is “100% operational and built 
according to the approved AHJ stamped design” if modifications are made to the system, as-built 
plans shall be provided. 


b. Contract copy with fire alarm central monitoring station. 


c. UL and/or FM certificate(s) for the contracted fire alarm central monitoring station. 


d. Fire protection underground flushing documents. 


e. Underground and fire sprinkler (Wet & Dry) hydrostatic test certificates. 


f. Clean Agent System documentation as applicable. 


g. Copies of the fire sprinkler operational test certificates. 


h. Copies of the fire alarm test documents. – Record of Completion 


i. Copies of other related system documents such as, hood/duct, smoke, etc… 


j. The Pleasant Prairie Fire and Rescue Department shall have all information needed for our pre-fire plan 
prior to occupancy. 


k. Provide in an electronic PDF format, floor plans and fire protection (Sprinkler/Fire Alarm) plans for the 
building in an as-built condition. 


l. System drawings of the fire alarm and fire sprinkler system shall be placed in the fire pump or riser room, near 
the fire alarm control panel as outlined in their respective system comments (above). An electronic copy of each 
system shall be provided. 


m. AED is in place at such time that the occupancy inspection is conducted. 


n. A copy of the Emergency Plan must be submitted to the Fire & Rescue Department before occupancy. 


 


### 


 


1902v5 







MASTER CONCEPTUAL PLAN APPLICATION 


For Commercial and Industrial Projects 


Name of Business: ______________________________________________________________ 


Site Address:_________________________________________________ Suite #: ___________ 


Tax Parcel Number: ______________________________________________________________ 


Zoning District(s): _______________________________________________________________ 


Name of Development:  ___________________________________________________________ 


Estimate Start date:  _____________  Estimate Completion Date of entire project: ____________ 


Detailed Description of the Proposed Project and Use: 


Detailed Description of any known Company/Tenants: 


Select All that Apply 


□ The Development will be constructed in _____ phase(s)


□ The Development abuts or adjoins State Trunk Highway _________________________


□ The Development abuts or adjoins County Trunk Highway ________________________


□ The Development abuts the Kenosha County Bike Trail


91-4-122-043-0020
I-1 and C-1


X H (88th Avenue)


N/A







SITE AND BUILDING INFORMATION 


Lot Area: ___________________ ac. Total Impervious Surface Area: ___________ sq. ft. 


Total Landscape Area: _______________ sq.ft.   Site % of Open Space ___________% 


Number of Buildings within the development proposed:  _____________________________ 


Building #1 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#1 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #2 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#2 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #3 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#3 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #4 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#4 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #5 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#5 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #6 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#6 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #7 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#7 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #8 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#8 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #9 Area:  __________________ sq. ft. Building#9 Height: ______________ ft. 


Building #10 Area:  _________________ sq. ft. Building#10 Height: _____________ ft. 


**If additional buildings are proposed attached a separate sheet. 


ON-SITE PARKING/TRAFFIC INFORMATION 


Total # of regular parking spaces (on-site): _____   


Total # of handicapped accessible spaces (on-site):_____ 


Total # of truck parking spaces (on-site):_______ Total # of dock doors: _____________ 


Anticipated automobile trips to and from the site (excluding trucks): 


Number of daily average trips:__________ Maximum number of daily trips:  __________ 


Anticipated truck trips to and from the site: 


Number of daily average trips:  _________ Maximum number of daily trips:  __________ 


EMPLOYMENT AND OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 


Proposed total number of full-time employees: ______________________________________ 


Proposed total number of part-time employees: ______________________________________ 


Number of shifts:  __________________ 


Hours (Open to the public): ______________________________________________________ 


Delivery hours: ________________________________________________________________ 


PUBLIC FACILITIES INFORMATION 


Check all that apply: 


□ The property is serviced by Public Sanitary Sewer


□ The property is serviced by Public Water


□ The building is serviced by fire sprinklers


Maximum number of gallons/minute of water expected to be used per day is: ______________ 


Is pre-treatment being proposed for sanitary sewer discharge?  _________________________ 


25


2


X
X


33,155


170,618 83.7


X
1,000


No







If property is zoned M-1, M-2 or M-5 then the following shall be completed: 


Occupancy Type pursuant to the Use and Occupancy Classification specified in Chapter 3 of the 2006 


International Building Code (2006 IBC). Include all that apply and associate square footage for each 


classification: 


□ Factory Group F-1 (Moderate-hazard) __________________sq. ft.


□ Factory Group F-2 (Low-hazard) sq. ft. 


□ Storage Group S-1 (Moderate-hazard) sq. ft. 


□ Storage Group S-2 (Low-hazard) sq. ft. 


□ Business Group B sq. ft. 


□ High-Hazard Group H sq. ft. 


□ Other _____________________ __________________sq. ft. 


Types and quantities of goods and materials to be made, used or stored on site: 


Types of equipment or machinery to be used on site: 


Types and quantities of solid or liquid waste material which require disposal:  


Method of handling, storing and disposing of solid or liquid waste materials: 


Methods of providing site and building security other than the Village Police Department: 







Description of the methods to be used to maintain all buildings, structures, site improvements 


and sites in a safe, structurally sound, neat, well-cared-for and attractive condition:  


Description of potential adverse impacts to neighboring properties or public facilities and 


measures to be taken to eliminate or minimize such adverse impacts:  


A list of all local, Kenosha County (highway access, health department), State and Federal 


permits or approvals required for the project:   


PLANS AND OTHER ATTACHMENTS 


□ Three (3) full size and a PDF copy of the Master Conceptual Plan, which shall include at a


minimum:


o Detailed and Dimensioned Site Plan


o Conceptual Engineering Plans


o Phasing Plan (if applicable)


o Floor Plans and Elevations


o Proposed Zoning District Change(s)


□ Application Fee


□ Any other information as specified by the Village


Department of Natural Resources
   Notice of Intent
   Wetland Fill Permit


Village of Pleasant Prairie
  Erosion Control Permit
  Work Within Village Right-of-Way
  Site & Operational Plan


Department of Safety & Professional Services
   General Plumbing


None


X


X
X







Scanned with CamScanner


1458 Horizon Blvd


Racine WI 53406


262-634-5588


meberle@nmbsc.net


3/1/2019











 























88
th


 A
VE


N
U


E 
 - 


 C
.T


.H
. "


H"
W


ID
TH


 V
AR


IE
S


68th STREET


DA
TE


RE
VI


SI
O


N
BY


N
O


.


11 OF


SHEET


PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:


60'


SCALE 1"=30'


30' 0' 30' 60'


MDE
JJC


3-4-2019
MDE


3-4-2018


2017.0192.01


CI
VI


L 
 E


N
GI


N
EE


RS
  A


N
D 


 L
AN


D 
 S


U
RV


EY
O


RS


BN
AI


 Z
ED


EK
CH


AB
AD


 O
F 


KE
N


O
SH


A
 C


O
N


CE
PT


U
AL


 P
LA


N
FO


R
CH


AB
AD


 O
F 


KE
N


O
SH


A
VI


LL
AG


E 
O


F 
PL


EA
SA


N
T 


PR
AI


RI
E,


 K
EN


O
SH


A 
CO


U
N


TY
, W


IS
CO


N
SI


N


14
58


 H
or


izo
n 


Bl
vd


. S
ui


te
 2


00
, R


ac
in


e,
 W


I. 
53


40
6


Te
le


: (
26


2)
63


4-
55


88
  W


eb
sit


e:
 w


w
w


.n
m


bs
c.


ne
t


PROPOSED
SYNAGOGUE


5,786 S.F.


FUTURE
2-STORY


RESIDENCE


WET
RETENTION


BASIN


WETLANDS


SITE PLAN LEGEND


SITE DATA


PROPOSED WATER MAIN EXTENSION
(VILLAGE SPONSORED PROJECT)


91-4-122-043-0034
ROBERT C KOZLOWSKI


91-4-122-043-0048
JAMES W WATTS


91-4-122-043-0115
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE


91-4-122-043-0220
NORMAN CLAUSEN


AVAILABLE
EXPANSION


AREA
1,130 S.F.


PROPOSED WETLAND FILL
9,999 S.F.


PROPOSED WATER MAIN EXTENSION
(VILLAGE SPONSORED PROJECT)


6" SANITARY LATERAL


6" PRIVATE
WATER MAIN


PROPOSED
11


2" WATER SERVICE


FUTURE 4" SANITARY
LATERAL


4" WATER SERVICE FDC CHECK VALVE


4" FDC LEAD


PLEASANT PRAIRIE
LIFT STATION


PROPOSED 50'-WIDE
ACCESS EASEMENT


PROPOSED PAVEMENT
FOR EMERGENCY ACCESS



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

ASPHALT



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

25' WETLAND SETBACK



AutoCAD SHX Text

65' SETBACK



AutoCAD SHX Text

25' SETBACK



AutoCAD SHX Text

S 88°05'18" W 97.30



AutoCAD SHX Text

N 02°16'12" W 2006.15



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE. 694.05



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE. 693.56



AutoCAD SHX Text

12" CMP



AutoCAD SHX Text

EX. RESIDENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

PORCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

COVERED



AutoCAD SHX Text

PORCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

GARAGE



AutoCAD SHX Text

ASPHALT



AutoCAD SHX Text

ASPHALT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WOODED AREA



AutoCAD SHX Text

SITE BENCHMARK: R.R. SPIKE



AutoCAD SHX Text

EAST FACE UTILITY POLE



AutoCAD SHX Text

NO. 03-06595 ELEV. 695.95



AutoCAD SHX Text

EX. RESIDENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

17' FUTURE ROAD RESERVATION



AutoCAD SHX Text

50'-WIDE ACCESS EASE



AutoCAD SHX Text

1:44:23 PM



AutoCAD SHX Text

Friday, March 01, 2019



AutoCAD SHX Text

DETECTABLE WARNING FIELD



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPERTY LINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

ASPHALT PAVEMENT



AutoCAD SHX Text

FIRE HYDRANT



AutoCAD SHX Text

REMOTE FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTOR (FDC)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE PAVEMENT



AutoCAD SHX Text

PARCEL NUMBER:  EXISTING ZONING: PROPOSED ZONING: EXISTING LAND USE: PROPOSED LAND USE: DEVELOPMENT TYPE:  EXISTING FLOOD ZONE: PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS SURFACE EXISTING BUILDING: PROPOSED BUILDING/ENCLOSURE: EXISTING PAVEMENT AREA: PROPOSED PAVEMENT AREA: PROPOSED WATER SURFACE:  TOTAL IMPERVIOUS SURFACE AREA: TOTAL GREEN SPACE AREA: TOTAL PARCEL AREA: PROPOSED PARKING: TOTAL PARKING STALLS: ADA PARKING STALLS: LANDOWNER: APPLICANT/DEVELOPER: SURVEYOR/CIVIL ENGINEER: 91-4-122-043-0020 R-4 I-1 & C-1 RESIDENTIAL SYNAGOGUE (PRIMARY BUILDING) HOSPITALITY SUITES (SECONDARY BUILDING) INSTITUTIONAL NOT IN A FLOOD ZONE 2,980 S.F. 11,687 S.F. 2,050 S.F. 21,468 S.F. 5,780 S.F. 33,155 S.F. = 0.76 AC (16.3%) 170,618 S.F. = 3.38 AC (83.7%) 203,773 S.F. = 4.68 AC 25 2 CHABAD LUBAVITCH OF KENOSHA INC 6522 87TH AVENUE KENOSHA, WI 53142 CHABAD LUBAVITCH OF KENOSHA INC 6522 87TH AVENUE KENOSHA, WI 53142 262-359-0770 NIELSEN, MADSEN + BARBER 1458 HORIZON BOULEVARD SUITE 200 RACINE, WI 53406 262-634-5588 



AutoCAD SHX Text

5



AutoCAD SHX Text

7



AutoCAD SHX Text

WETLANDS LOCATED BY ALICE THOMPSON OF



AutoCAD SHX Text

THOMPSON & ASSOCIATES WETLAND SERVICES



AutoCAD SHX Text

ON JUNE 28, 2018



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

4



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED WATER MAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING STORM SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED STORM SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING WATER MAIN



AutoCAD SHX Text

PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING CONTOURS



AutoCAD SHX Text

692



AutoCAD SHX Text

WETLANDS LOCATED BY DAVE MEYER OF



AutoCAD SHX Text

WETLAND & WATERWAY CONSULTING, LLC



AutoCAD SHX Text

ON OCTOBER 11, 2018



























VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
BOARD OF TRUSTESS 


RESOLUTION #19-11 TO INITIATE A ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT 
 


WHEREAS, the Village Board may initiate a petition for amendments of the Zoning 
Ordinance, which may include rezoning of property, change in Zoning District boundaries, or 
changes in the text of said Ordinance. 


WHEREAS, the Village staff is proposing to re-evaluate the specific conditional use 
permit requirements related to setbacks for utility substations. 


NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Village Board of Trustees, as follows: 


1. That the Village Board of Trustees hereby initiates and petitions to re-evaluate the 
specific conditional use requirements related to setbacks for utility substations; and 


2. That the proposed changes in the Zoning Text are hereby referred to the Village staff 
for further study and recommendation; and 


3. That the Village Board of Trustees is not, by this Resolution, making any 
determination regarding the merits of the proposed changes in the Zoning Text, but 
rather, is only initiating the process by which the proposed changes in the Zoning 
Ordinance Text can be promptly evaluated. 


Adopted this 15th day of April 2019. 


 


____________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink 


Attest:       Village President 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk  
 
 
______________________________ 
Date Posted: 
 
 
CODE1904-002 
 
11-CUP amends-Utility Substaion requirements 







MEMORANDUM 


To:         Village Board 


From:   Thomas G. Shircel 


Date:    April 15, 2019 


Re:        Consider an Award of Contract for HVAC Services for various Village of 
Pleasant Prairie Buildings/Facilities 


 


 


9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6715 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 


 


Office of the Assistant Village Administrator 


BACKGROUND 


For numerous years, Martin Petersen Company (MPC) has been providing HVAC services for the Village 


buildings/facilities.  As an example, MPC has provided HVAC services for the RecPlex since its inception 


and for the Village Hall and Prange buildings for 20+ years. 


Past MPC HVAC contracts: 


 March 5, 2012, Village Board awarded a 2-year base contract to MPC in the amount of $45,130.  


 April 15, 2015, Village Board once again awarded a 2-year base contract to MPC in the amount of 


$38,480. 


 Pursuant to a Village extension option in the contracts, the Village, in 2014 and 2017 opted to 


extend the MPC contracts for an additional year. 


 


NEW CONTRACT 


With the expiration of the current MPC contracts, on March 5, 2019, the Village released RFP #19-01, 


entitled “Heating, Ventilation & Air Conditioning (HVAC) Services for various Village of Pleasant Prairie 


Buildings”, to solicit HVAC service proposals. The RFP was distributed to 10 HVAC contractors in the 


greater Kenosha area. 


Company Solicited Location 


AccuTemp Mechanical, Inc.  Kenosha 


GHC Mechanical, Inc. Elk Grove Village, IL 


Grunau Company Oak Creek 


Illingworth-Kilgust Mechanical, Inc. West Allis 


Kenosha Heating & Cooling Kenosha 


Lee Plumbing, Heating, Cooling & Electric Kenosha 


Martin Petersen Company, Inc. Kenosha 


Pieper Electric, Inc. Kenosha 


Southport Engineered Systems, LLC Caledonia 


United Mechanical, Inc.  Racine 


 


In general, pursuant to the RFP, responses were to provide a proposal to the Village for HVAC services for 


various Village buildings/facilities, including cost rates for each of the facilities. The HVAC services will 







 


9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6715 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 


 


include, but are not limited to: equipment installations, renovations, remodels, repairs, preventative 


maintenance and the general maintenance of all existing HVAC facilities. 


The Village facilities to be serviced under the new HVAC contract: 


 Village Hall    9915 39th Avenue 
 Fire & Rescue Station #1  3801 Springbrook Road  
 Fire & Rescue Station #2   8044 88th Avenue 
 RecPlex    9900 Terwall Terrace   
 Roger Prange Municipal Building  8600 Green Bay Road 
 Public Works Storage Building 8600 Green Bay Road 
 Baby U     10000 Terwall Terrace 
 Wruck Beach Pavilion   9999 Park Drive 
 Sewer Facilities    Lift stations - various locations 
 Water Facilities    Water towers/reservoirs & booster stations - various locations 


 


In response to the RFP, on March 26, 2019, the Village received proposals from: 


 


 Illingworth-Kilgust (West Allis) 


 Martin Petersen Company (Kenosha) 


 Southport Engineered Systems (Caledonia) 


 


Summary, Comparison & Evaluation table of the RFP responses: 


Company/


Firm


Location Rate 


Sheet 


(PM 


Charge)/


Yr.


Work Rates 


$/Hr.


Emergency Work Rates


$/Hr.


Regular OT Sunday Holiday Regular OT Sunday Holiday


Illingworth-


Kilgust


West Allis $64,764 $132 $185 $231 $231 $132 $185 $231 $231


Southport 


Engineered 


Systems


Caledonia $27,250 $89 $116 $89 $89 $89 $116 $89 $89


Martin 


Peterson 


Co.


Kenosha $54,700 $112 $154 $195 $195 $112 $154 $195 $195


Company/


Firm


Equip-


Material


Mark-Up


Response 


Times


Sub-Contractor Job 


Example 


“A” Cost


Warranty (Parts, 


Materials, 


Workmanship)


Job 


Example 


“A” CostStandard Emergency Mark -Up Rate/Hr.


Illingworth-


Kilgust


30% 4 Hr. 2 Hr. 25% N/A $12,559 90 Days $12,559


Southport 


Engineered 


Systems


10% 2 Hr. 1 Hr. 10% $190 $9,225 1 Year $9,225


Martin 


Peterson 


Co.


10% 1 Hr. 1 Hr. 10% Varies $7,201 1 Year $7,201


 


  







 


9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6715 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 


 


 


RECOMMENDATION: 


 


After an internal Village staff review of the four RFP responses, the staff believes that based on the RFP 


proposals that the Southport Engineered Systems (Southport) is the best qualified, most reasonable 


candidate at a responsible cost.  Southport is recommended for the following reasons: 


 


 Southport offers the lowest annual fee for preventative maintenance (PM) at $27,250. 


 Southport offers the lowest Standard Hourly Work Rates ($89) and the lowest Emergency Hourly 


Work Rates ($116) over all categories (regular, overtime, Sundays & Holidays). 


 Upon the Village and Southport entering into HVAC Contracts, Southport’s Hourly Work 


Rates will be $89 across the board, for both standard service calls (regular, overtime, 


Sunday & Holiday) and for emergency service calls (regular, overtime, Sunday & Holiday). 


 Southport’s Office is located on I-94 in Caledonia (27 miles, 30 minutes).  


 MPC is located in Kenosha 


 Illingworth-Kilgust is located in West Allis (45 miles, 50 minutes).   


 All 3 have technicians located throughout the immediate area. 


 


 Southport and MPC have the lowest service response times for emergency service calls (1 hour). 


MPC has the lowest service response times for standard service calls (1 hour). 


 Southport, along with MPC, offers a 1-year warranty on materials and labor. 


 Southport, along with MPC, offers a low 10% mark-up on equipment and materials from wholesale 


rates. 


Potential Village Savings with Southport (vs. MPC): 


• MPC PM fee = $54,700 x 2 yr. Contract term = $109,400 


• Southport PM fee = $27,250 x 2 yr. Contract term = $54,500 


SAVINGS with Southport = $54,900 (over 2 years)  


 


• MPC Work Rates = $112, $154 & $195/hour (less 10% for the Village as a “Preferred Customer”) 


• Southport Work Rates = $89/hour 


SAVINGS with Southport = $23/hr., 65/hr. & $106/hr. 


 


For the aforementioned reasons, the Village staff recommends that the Village Board award a base 


contract to Southport Engineered Systems, as the lowest responsible bid, in the amount of $27,250 


for the provision of HVAC services for various Village buildings/facilities. The Village Administrator is 


further authorized to execute necessary and reasonable additions/subtraction to this contract(s) for fees, 


expenses, or additional work and/or service requests. 


 
 



























































































































































































































































































































































   
 


8600 Green Bay Road • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-2709 • Phone 262.925.6765 • Fax 262.694.2941 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 


 


Office of the Director of Public Works 
John Steinbrink Jr., P.E. 


MEMORANDUM 


To: Village  Board of Trustees 


From: John Steinbrink, Jr., P.E., Director of Public Works 


Subject: The Cottages at Village Green Phase 2 Letter of Credit Reduction Request No. 2 


Date: April 5, 2019 


 


The Village has conducted a review of the Letter of Credit Reduction for Public Improvements at the Cottages 
at Village Green and recommends approval of reduction in the subdivision letter of credit based on review of 
project progress and the following considerations: 


 Current posted security 


 Work Completed to date and conformance to plans and specifications 


 Field visits by Village of Pleasant Prairie Staff, Inspection reports/Engineer’s report, if applicable 


 Estimated costs of work remaining 
 
Village Construction Inspection staff have reviewed the request and based on inspection of the site and the 
construction observation reports, I am recommending reduction as follows to the letter of credit: 


Letter of Credit Balance as of April 2, 2019 $1,975,392.28 


Estimated Balance to Complete Project $1,350,917.87 


Retainage of Public Improvement $54,200.67 


Value of LOC to hold $1,689,057.23 


Letter of Credit Reduction Recommended $286,335.05 


 


 
 
Based on the review of the criteria, the proposed improvements meet the requirements of the Village and a 
letter of credit reduction request is warranted and recommended.   


 







COTTAGES PHASE 2 4/2/2019 Worksheet Summary


Letter of Credit Reduction Worksheet ORIGINAL Letter of Credit (LOC) Amount $2,176,863.26


Pleasant Prairie, WI                                    Total LOC reduction $487,806.03


CURRENT LOC BALANCE AFTER THIS REDUCTION $1,689,057.23


Developer's Requested Reduction Amount $318,150.05


Total Payout to developer this application $286,335.05


Total Retainage held this application (31,815.01)$                  


Draw Date 3/11/2019 4/2/19
Responsible Party Construction Item STATUS Original Cost 


Estimate
#1 #2                  #3                            #4                            


Construction    TO-DATE BALANCE of LOC 


held


Reesman's Exc&Gr Sanitary Sewer Partial Reduction $146,350.00 $100,555.50 $4,670.60 $105,226.10 $41,123.90 


Reesman's Exc&Gr Watermain Partial Reduction $319,033.00 $17,160.00 $195,670.75 $212,830.75 $106,202.25 


Reesman's Exc&Gr Storm Sewer Partial Reduction $287,315.00 $91,427.70 $91,427.70 $195,887.30 


Reesman's Exc&Gr Public Grading/Roadway Partial Reduction $915,564.41 $100,250.00 $26,381.00 $126,631.00 $788,933.41 


Village DPW Sanitary Sewer & Storm Cleaning and Televising Estimate No Reduction Requested $10,000.00 $0.00 $10,000.00 


Village DPW Street signage - Village of Pleasant Prairie No Reduction Requested $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00 


Village/CM Dept. Village Inspections No Reduction Requested $133,460.99 $0.00 $133,460.99 


NMB staking/layout/survey NMB Construction staking,layout,survey Partial Reduction $49,800.00 $5,891.15 $5,891.15 $43,908.85 


WeEnergies Street lights No Reduction Requested $4,437.14 $0.00 $4,437.14 


Breezy Hill Street Trees No Reduction Requested $22,964.03 $0.00 $22,964.03 


Construction Cost Estimate $1,892,924.57 


Contingency 15% No Reduction Requested $283,938.69 $0.00 $0.00 $283,938.69 


TOTAL $2,176,863.26 $223,856.65 $318,150.05 $0.00 $0.00 $542,006.70 $1,634,856.56 


DISBURSEMENT/REDUCTION #1 #2                  #3                            #4                            Disbursements  TO-DATE BALANCE of LOC 


held


TOTAL $2,176,863.26 $223,856.65 $318,150.05 $0.00 $0.00 $542,006.70 $1,634,856.56 


RETENTION (to be held until warranty expires) 10%  $           (22,385.67)  $        (31,815.01)  $                         -    $                            -    $                                                                         (54,200.67) $54,200.67 


Disbursment amount $201,470.99 $286,335.05 $0.00 $0.00 $487,806.03 $1,689,057.23 


Change Orders (SUPPLEMENT)


Net dispersment after change orders $2,176,863.26 $201,470.99 $286,335.05 $0.00 $0.00 $487,806.03 $1,689,057.23 















120'


SCALE 1"=60'


60' 0' 60' 120'


EXISTING UTILITY DATA
STM 1
RIM 705.24
IE. 30" W 698.34
IE. 30" E 698.44


STM 2
RIM 713.11
IE. 15" N 709.76
IE. 15" SE 709.71


STM 3
RIM 705.05
IE. 30" NE 700.55
IE. 15" S 700.75
IE. 24" SE 700.65


STM 4
RIM 710.50
IE. 15" N 706.90
IE. 24" W 706.70
IE. 24" SE 706.55


CB 1
RIM 703.50
IE. 15" N 701.00


CB 2
RIM 703.29
IE. 15" S 700.44
IE. 15" N 700.39


CB 3
RIM 703.56
IE. 15" S 699.81
IE. 15" N 699.71


CB 4
RIM 704.23
IE. 15" W 701.98


CB 5
RIM 704.23
IE. 15" E 701.83
IE. 15" N 701.78


CB 6
RIM 704.18
IE. 15" S 701.38
IE. 15" N 701.18


CB 7
RIM 703.91
IE. 15" S 701.01
IE. 15" N 700.96


CB 8
RIM 704.13
IE. 15" S 700.63
IE. 15" N 700.48
IE. 15" E 700.58


CB 9
RIM 704.11
IE. 15" W 700.71


CB 10
RIM 705.31
IE. 36" E 699.96
IE. 30" SW 700.01
IE. 15" W 700.46


CB 11
RIM 705.42
IE. 15" E 701.37
IE. 15" SW 701.42


CB 12
RIM 705.28
IE. 15" NE 701.73
IE. 15" SW 701.98


CB 13
RIM 710.38
IE. 15" S 707.68


CB 15
RIM 706.21
IE. 15" W 703.76


SAN 1
RIM 704.97
IE. 8" N&S 695.32


SAN 2
RIM 725.74
IE. 8" E 710.59


SAN 3
RIM 713.40
IE. 8" SE 703.95


SAN 4
RIM 707.73
IE. 8" S&NE 694.48


SAN 5
RIM 708.31
IE. 8" SW&E 694.21


SAN 6
RIM 708.90
IE. 8" E&W 693.80
IE. 8" N 700.35


SAN 7
RIM 709.51
IE. 8" W&NE 693.16


SAN 8
RIM 709.78
IE. 8" SW&NE 692.78


SAN 9
RIM 710.26
IE. 8" N&S 692.41


SAN 10
RIM 711.68
IE. 8" N&S 691.32
IE. 8" W 691.52
IE. 8" W 703.68


SAN 11
RIM 712.99
IE. 8" S&NE 690.39
IE. 8" NW 703.24


SAN 12
RIM 706.86
IE. 8" SW 689.56


SAN 13
RIM 715.22
IE. 8" E&W 705.57


SAN 14
RIM 718.62
IE. 8" NW&E 708.12


SAN 15
RIM 723.37
IE. 8" W&SE 709.42


CB 16
RIM 710.31
IE. 15" N 707.26
IE. 15" NW 707.26
IE. 15" S 707.21


CB 17
RIM 705.00
IE. 15" NE 702.35


CB 18
RIM 710.30
IE. 15" N 707.05
IE. 15" S 707.00


CB 19
RIM 710.44
IE. 15" E 706.39


CB 20
RIM 710.23
IE. 24" S 706.18
IE. 24" N 706.28
IE. 15" W 706.28


CB 21
RIM 705.22
IE. 15" SE 702.42


CB 22
RIM 706.13
IE. 15" NW 702.03
IE. 15" N 701.98
IE. 15" E 702.03


DA
TE


RE
VI


SI
O


N
N


O
.


SHEET


PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:


MDE
NDB


2-15-2017
MDE


2012.0111.05


CI
VI


L 
 E


N
GI


N
EE


RS
  A


N
D 


 L
AN


D 
 S


U
RV


EY
O


RS


14
58


 H
or


izo
n 


Bl
vd


. S
ui


te
 2


00
, R


ac
in


e,
 W


I. 
53


40
6


Te
le


: (
26


2)
63


4-
55


88
  W


eb
sit


e:
 w


w
w


.n
m


bs
c.


ne
t


STORM SEWER


SANITARY MANHOLE


WATER MAIN


HYDRANT


WATER VALVE


POWER POLE


DECIDUOUS TREE


CONIFEROUS TREE


GUARD POST


LEGEND:


SIGN


SANITARY SEWERCATCH BASIN


STORM MANHOLE


BEARING BASE: GRID NORTH, WISCONSIN
COORDINATE SYSTEM, SOUTH ZONE. BASED
UPON NAD 1927.


ALL ELEVATIONS REFER TO NATIONAL
GEODETIC DATUM OF 1929.


OVERHEAD WIRES


FOUND IRON PIPE


CLEAN OUT


YARD LIGHT


WELL


HVAC


MAILBOX


WATER CONTROL VALVE


WeB SOIL CLASSIFICATION


SOIL BORING


48
TH


 A
VE


N
U


E


98TH STREET


SITE UTILITY LEGEND


29


30 31 32
33


34
35


36


37


38


39


40


41


42


43


44


45


46
47


48


49


50


51


727170
69


68
67


66 65
64


63
62


61
60 59


58 57 56 55


54


53


52


21


2019
18


17


16
15


1413
12


11


10


9


8


7


6


5


4
3


2 1


28
27


26


25


24
23 22


TH
E 


CO
TT


AG
ES


 A
T 


VI
LL


AG
E 


G
RE


EN
CO


N
DO


M
IN


IU
M


M
AS


TE
R 


SI
TE


 U
TI


LI
TY


 P
LA


N
FO


R
TH


E 
CO


TT
AG


ES
 A


T 
VI


LL
AG


E 
GR


EE
N


, L
LC


.
VI


LL
AG


E 
O


F 
PL


EA
SA


N
T 


PR
AI


RI
E,


 K
EN


O
SH


A 
CO


U
N


TY
, W


IS
CO


N
SI


N


PAD MOUNT TRANSFORMER 4 OF


EXISTING RETENTION BASIN
NWL: 699.00


100YR HWM: 704.00


1
1


1


1


1


1
1 1


1
1


1
1


1


1


1


1


1


1


1


1


2


1


1


1


1


1


11


1


4-19-2017


2


MAIN STREET


46
TH


 C
O


U
RT


NORTH COTTAGE LANE


3


3 1


3


33


3


3


33


3


3


SOUTH


COTTAGE LANE


4
4


4


4


4


4


2


47 IS
S
U
E
 F


O
R
 C


O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO


N
 -
 9


-5
-2


0
1
7


5/
8/


18
PH


AS
E 


2 
U


PD
AT


E
1



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

Line



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

Rectangle



swlahovich

Rectangle



swlahovich

Text Box

PHASE 1



swlahovich

Text Box

PHASE 2



swlahovich

Text Box

- NEW WATERMAIN WITH LATERALS



swlahovich

Text Box

- EXISTING SANITARY  WITH NEW LATERALS



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

PolyLine



swlahovich

Rectangle



swlahovich

Text Box

- NEW STORM SEWER







VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE  


RESOLUTION #19-10 
DESIGNATING APRIL 14-20, 2019 AS 


NATIONAL PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATIONS WEEK 
 


 


WHEREAS, our Public Safety Dispatchers are the first and most critical contact with 
our citizens during an emergency; and  


 
WHEREAS, emergencies can occur anytime that require the prompt response of 


police officers, firefighters and emergency medical services; and 
 


WHEREAS, Public Safety Dispatchers are the single vital link for our police officers 
and firefighters and carry the responsibility of their safety by monitoring their radio 


activity while providing them with updated information and insuring their safety; 
and 


 


WHEREAS, the safety of our police officers, firefighters and citizens is dependent 
on the skill, accuracy and dedication of the Pleasant Prairie Public Safety 


Telecommunications personnel; and 
 


WHEREAS, our Public Safety Dispatchers have contributed to the safety of our 
community through their compassion and professionalism. 


 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Village Board of Trustees hereby 


formally dedicates April 14-20, 2019 as National Public Safety Telecommunications 
Week in the Village of Pleasant Prairie and publicly salutes the service of the Public 


Safety Dispatchers in our community and in communities across the nation. 
   


Adopted this 15th day of April, 2019. 


 


VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
 
 


______________________________ 
John Steinbrink 


Village President 
ATTEST: 
 


 
_________________________ 


Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 


 
Posted: _______________ 







MEMORANDUM 


To:        Village Board of Trustees 


From:   John P. Steinbrink 


Date:    April 10, 2019 


Re:        Commission Appointments 


 


 


9915 39th Avenue • Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin 53158-6504 • Phone 262.925.6721 • Fax 262.694.4734 • PleasantPrairieWI.gov 


 


Office of the Village President 


I recommend the following appointments to the committees for the terms listed below:   
 


Plan Commission 


 


Michael R. Pollocoff    Term – May 1, 2022 


Wayne Koessl     Term – May 1, 2022 


Judith Juliana     Term – May 1, 2022 


John Skalbeck (Alternate #1)   Term – May 1, 2020 


Brock Williamson (Alternate #2)  Term – May 1, 2020 


 


Park Commission 


 


Michealene Day     Term – May 1, 2021 


William Mills     Term – May 1, 2021 


Brock Williamson     Term – May 1, 2021 


Jim Bandura (Alternate #1)   Term – May 1, 2020 


Christopher Bilik (Alternate #2)  Term – May 1, 2020 


 


Board of Review 


 


William Morris     Term – May 1, 2024 


 


Police & Fire Commission 


 


Larry Nelson     Term – May 1, 2024   


**Rebecca Matoska-Mentink   Term – May 1, 2022 


 


  **fulfilling vacated term of Christine Genthner who resigned 


  


Board of Appeals 


 


Dwayne Pinon     Term – May 1, 2022 


Samara “Sammie” Lancia   Term – May 1, 2022 


Dragan Obradovich    Term – May 1, 2022 


 


* * * * * 





		April 15, 2019 Village Board Agenda

		Village Board Minutes 3-11-2019

		Village Board Minutes 3-18-2019

		Village Board Minutes 4-1-2019

		7A. Lot Line Adjustment between properites 104th Ave - 103rd Ave

		VB Memo Lot Line Adj

		Application

		Backup info

		Plat of Survey-Lot  Line Adjustment





		7B. Master Concept Plan-Chabad of Kenosha

		VB Memo Chabad

		2019-03-27 Eng Review

		2019-03-28 Fire Comments

		Conceptual Application and Plan

		Written Narrative

		2019-02-19 Traffic Statement 88th-68th

		Site Plan

		Floor Plan

		3D East North View

		3D Main Entrance South View 

		3D Main Entrance South View 2 

		3D West View 





		7C. Resolution 19-11 Zoning Text Amendment

		7D. HVAC Award of Contract to Southport Engineered Systems

		VB Memo for RFP #19-01 (4-15-19).pdf

		RFP #19-01- HVAC 3-5-19 FINAL (no Tasking Sheets) 3-5-19

		Illingworth-Kilgust RFP Submittal 3-26-19

		MPC RFP Submittal 3-26-19

		Southport RFP Submittal 3-26-19



		7E. Letter of Credit Reduction No 2 Memo - The Cottages

		7F. Res #19-10 National Public Safety Telecommunications Week Resolution 2019

		7G. Appointment of Various VOPP Boards-Commission Apppintments



		Name of Business: Chabad Lubavitch of Kenosha Inc.

		Site Address: 6939 88th Avenue

		Suite: 

		Tax Parcel Number: 

		Zoning Districts: 

		Name of Development: Chabad of Kenosha

		Estimate Start date: Fall 2019-Spring 2020

		Estimate Completion Date of entire project: Fall 2023

		Detailed Description of the Proposed Project and Use: The project would serve as a house of worship and gathering space for the Jewish community in the general area.  It will house a Synagogue that would serve as a place or worship and study center for classes.  The proposed structure will have a social hall, small library, classroom, offices, Kosher kitchen, and Mikvah for ritual immersion as well as two (2) guest rooms.  As part of a second phase of construction, a parsonage home will be constructed on the South portion of the site

		Detailed Description of any known CompanyTenants: 

		phases: 2

		The Development will be constructed in: On

		The Development abuts or adjoins State Trunk Highway: Off

		The Development abuts or adjoins County Trunk Highway: Off

		The Development abuts the Kenosha County Bike Trail: Off

		undefined: 

		undefined_2: 

		Lot Area: 4.710

		Total Impervious Surface Area: 

		Total Landscape Area: 

		Site  of Open Space: 

		Number of Buildings within the development proposed: 2

		Building 1 Area: 5800

		Building1 Height: 25

		Building 2 Area: 2400

		Building2 Height: 30

		Building 3 Area: 

		Building3 Height: 

		Building 4 Area: 

		Building4 Height: 

		Building 5 Area: 

		Building5 Height: 

		Building 6 Area: 

		Building6 Height: 

		Building 7 Area: 

		Building7 Height: 

		Building 8 Area: 

		Building8 Height: 

		Building 9 Area: 

		Building9 Height: 

		Building 10 Area: 

		Building10 Height: 

		Total  of regular parking spaces onsite: 

		Total  of handicapped accessible spaces onsite: 

		Total  of truck parking spaces onsite: 0

		Total  of dock doors: 0

		Number of daily average trips: 10

		Maximum number of daily trips: 20

		Number of daily average trips_2: N/A

		Maximum number of daily trips_2: N/A

		Proposed total number of fulltime employees: 1

		Proposed total number of parttime employees: 4

		Number of shifts: 1

		Hours Open to the public: 9-5 (Although there will be occasional classes later) 

		Delivery hours: N/A

		The property is serviced by Public Sanitary Sewer: Off

		The property is serviced by Public Water: Off

		The building is serviced by fire sprinklers: On

		Maximum number of gallonsminute of water expected to be used per day is: 

		Is pretreatment being proposed for sanitary sewer discharge: 

		sq ft: 

		sq ft_2: 

		sq ft_3: 

		sq ft_4: 

		sq ft_5: 

		sq ft_6: 

		Other: 

		sq ft_7: 

		Types and quantities of goods and materials to be made used or stored on site: N/A

		Types of equipment or machinery to be used on site: N/A

		Types and quantities of solid or liquid waste material which require disposal: N/A

		Method of handling storing and disposing of solid or liquid waste materials: N/A

		Methods of providing site and building security other than the Village Police Department: Security system surveillance with direct connection to PP Police Dept. 

		and sites in a safe structurally sound neat wellcaredfor and attractive condition: We will use volunteers as well as an outside company to maintain the lawn/driveway etc. 

		measures to be taken to eliminate or minimize such adverse impacts: 

		permits or approvals required for the project: 

		Three 3 full size and a PDF copy of the Master Conceptual Plan which shall include at a: Off

		Application Fee: Off

		Any other information as specified by the Village: Off






